

Millennial perceptions of the 4th industrial revolution in an information technology company

LP Morathi
 orcid.org 0000-0002-3527-3397

Mini-dissertation accepted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree *Master of Arts in Industrial Psychology* at the North-West University

Supervisor: Ms J Latif

Graduation: May 2020 Student number: 29427266

COMMENTS

The reader is reminded of the following;

- The references, as well as the editorial style, comply with the requirements prescribed by the *Publication Manual* (6th edition) of the American Psychological Association (APA).
- The mini dissertation is submitted in the form of a research article.

DECLARATION

I, Lerato P. Morathi, hereby declare that *Millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company* is my own work and that the views and opinions expressed in this work are my own and those of the relevant literature references as indicated.

Furthermore, I declare that the contents of this research study will not be submitted for any other qualification at any other tertiary institution.

A

LERATO P. MORATHI NOVEMBER 2019

DECLARATION FROM THE LANGUAGE EDITOR

I hereby declare that I was responsible for the language editing of the mini-dissertation entitled 'Millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company', submitted by L. P. Morathi (29427266).

iedericks

Dr Elsabé Diedericks BA, Hons, HED, Hons, MA, PhD

22 November 2019

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and heartfelt appreciation to the following people.

- My research supervisor, Juraida Latif, thank you for your support and guidance.
- My partner, Simphiwe Shange, you have travelled this road with me from the day that I told you that I would like to pursue my studies. Thank you for your love, patience, kindness, and for being my pillar of strength when I needed the encouragement to soldier on.
- My good friend and study partner, Penny Adams. It is through academics that we met, but little did we know that we would become such good friends. This experience has tested us in so many ways and I couldn't have done it without you by my side. Thank you for making every single moment of this journey memorable. I couldn't have asked for a better study partner.
- To my family, thank you for being my biggest fans and for being so understanding when I couldn't spend time with you. Your patience has made this journey easier for me.
- Shireen Powell, you have changed my life in so many ways and I will forever treasure the opportunities that you have created for me. I always say that it takes one person to believe in your dreams and provide you with the opportunity to prove your worth. You have been that person in my life, and you will always be an important part of my success. Thank you for your support. I only dream of being half the leader that you are.

Table of Contents

COMM	IENTS	i	
DECLA	ARATION	ii	
DECLA	ARATION FROM THE LANGUAGE EDITOR	iii	
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	iv	
SUMMARYvii			
СНАРТ	ГЕR 1	1	
INTRO	DUCTION, PROBLEM STATEMENT AND OBJECTIVES	1	
1.	INTRODUCTION	1	
1.1.	Problem Statement	2	
1.2.	Literature Review	3	
1.2.1.	The 4th Industrial Revolution	3	
1.2.2.	Millennials	5	
1.3.	Research Questions	6	
1.4.	Research Objectives	6	
1.4.1.	General Objective	6	
1.4.2.	Specific Objectives	6	
1.5.	RESEARCH DESIGN	7	
1.5.1.	Research Approach	7	
1.5.2.	Research Philosophy	7	
1.5.2.1.	Ontology	7	
1.5.2.2.	Epistemology	8	
1.6.	Research Approach	8	
1.7.	Research Method	9	
1.7.1.	Literature Review	9	
1.7.2.	Research Setting	9	
1.7.3.	Role of the Researcher	10	
1.7.4.	Data Collection Procedure	10	
1.7.4.1.	Procedure	10	
1.7.4.2.	Data Collection Method	11	
1.7.4.3.	Sampling Method	11	
1.7.4.4.	Data Analysis	12	
1.7.4.5.	Note Taking and Voice Recording	12	

1.7.5.	Strategies Employed to Ensure Quality Data		
1.7.5.1.	Credibility		
1.7.5.2.	Transferability		
1.7.5.3.	Dependability	14	
1.7.5.4.	Confirmability	14	
1.7.6.	Ethical Considerations	14	
1.7.6.1.	Voluntary Participation	15	
1.7.6.2.	Informed Consent	15	
1.7.6.3.	Anonymity and Privacy	15	
1.8.	Expected contributions of the study	15	
1.8.1.	Expected Contribution for the Individual	15	
1.8.2.	Expected Contribution for the Organisation		
1.8.3.	Expected Contribution for Literature	16	
1.9.	Chapter division	16	
1.10.	Time frames	17	
Referen	ces		
CHAPTER 2			
ARTICLE 1			
References			
CHAPTER 3			
CONCLUSIONS, LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS			
3.1. CO	3.1. CONCLUSIONS FROM LITERATURE AND EMPIRICAL RESULTS		
3.2.	LIMITATIONS OF THIS STUDY	79	
3.3.	RECOMMENDATIONS	80	
3.3.1.	Recommendations for the Individual	80	
3.3.2.	Recommendations for the Organisation	80	
3.3.3.	Recommendations for Future Research	81	
Referen	References		

SUMMARY

Title: Millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company

Keywords: 4th Industrial Revolution, Industry 4.0, millennials, technological revolution, digitisation, workplace.

The 4th Industrial Revolution is in the early stages and impacting every aspect of life. Businesses are realising economies of scales as a result of the technologies introduced by this era; thus, creating uncertainty where existing jobs are concerned as new skills are required. Millennials are the largest generation cohort in the labour market, and they will be required to reconsider their career ambitions in order to remain relevant in this era.

The general objective of this study was to establish millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company. A qualitative research design was used, utilising a semi-structured interview approach to obtain data from millennials employed in an information technology company. Participants (n = 15) were identified using purposive sampling and were approached, based on the research requirements. Once data had been collected, a content data analysis approach was used to analyse the recorded data.

The results indicated that millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution as a phenomenon that has emerged from the 3rd Industrial Revolution. They also associate this era with the introduction of technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI), biotechnology, robotics and automation. They suggest that these technologies are reducing the amount of administrative and physically intensive work. However, as a result of this, they suggest that certain jobs are becoming redundant and new career opportunities are emerging, bringing about a demand for new skills as business demands change. Therefore, millennials suggest that they need to reskill and upskill in order to keep up with and align to the 4th Industrial Revolution. They also suggest that organisations need to support them through establishing people inclusive strategies and provide further support through skills development initiatives that are future focused.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION, PROBLEM STATEMENT AND OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this chapter is to orientate the reader to the study investigated in this mini dissertation. The main aim of the study is to explore millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company. A brief introduction of the study will be provided, followed by a detailed problem statement. A statement of the main research questions, as well as the aims guiding the study will be outlined. This will be followed by the ontological and epistemological positioning, and a discussion of the research methodology guiding the study. Ethical matters related to this study will then be described, and the chapter will then be concluded with an outline of the division chapters of the mini dissertation.

1. INTRODUCTION

The world is in the early stages of a digital and technological revolution that is impacting every aspect of human existence. Known as the 4th Industrial Revolution, or Industry 4.0, it is changing the way in which people communicate, consume, produce, and work (Daemmrich, 2017), blurring the lines between the physical, digital and biological spheres, and giving way to a deeper integration of technology into society (Kodama, 2018). This is influencing all business disciplines, economies, and even challenging what it means to be human (Schwab, 2018).

At the core of these changes is the objective of driving technological principles and solutions that increase economies of scale (Dombrowski & Wagner, 2014). These drivers motivate organisations to re-evaluate and amend their processes, technologies, organisational behaviours, and even the skills required to gain a competitive advantage and thrive in an environment of continuous change and uncertainty (Aslam, Ilyas, Imran, & Rahman, 2016). This has led to the automation and digitisation of specific functions, bringing about significant organisational changes to current business models across all industries and sectors (Contreras, Garcia, & Diaz, 2017). Thus, posing a threat to existing jobs and the skills required to perform them, as new job functions emerge (Butler-Adam, 2018), making job dislocation prevalent in the process, and increasing the demand for new skills (Hirschi, 2018).

1.1. Problem Statement

It is evident that organisations are already establishing themselves in a digitised environment; however, this is not the case where human capability is concerned (Holmlund, Strandvik, & Lähteenmäki, 2017), particularly in relation to the volatile shift in the nature of work and future skills requirements (Collings & Isichei, 2018). Brynjolfsson and McAfee (2012) concur with this and argue that the biggest challenge the world is facing is that the current skills do not meet the demands of the technological advancements made. Therefore, as the 4th Industrial Revolution progresses, it will increase inequality as labour markets are further disrupted (WEF, 2016). Technologies such as automation and artificial intelligence will substitute a large number of job functions, and the net displacement of workers by machines will exacerbate the gap between return on capital versus return on labour (Xu, David, & Kim, 2018).

Driven by technology, an organisation's most valuable resource will no longer be its large workforce (Taylor, 2016). Instead, it will be its technology and its most talented individuals, with the most relevant skills being retained (Xu et al., 2018). In the long run, this is going to impact developing countries, such as South Africa, where the creation of employment has been providing the world with low cost labour, particularly in areas of mass production and customer services (WEF, 2016). Jobs in such areas are increasingly being replaced by computers and automation, and organisations are seeing greater returns through adopting next generation technologies that can perform the same functions at a faster and cheaper rate than a human can (Ślusarczyk, 2018). Whilst leaders suggest that reforming the basic education system is crucial for this era, it is not possible to weather the current technological advancements by waiting for the next generation to enter the workforce with the relevant set of skills (WEF, 2016). Therefore, the focus needs to be on the generations in the current labour market.

Companies that operate within the IT sector are a key driver of the 4th Industrial Revolution (Kaba & Said, 2014). This is because they provide the infrastructure and innovation that facilitate the transition towards digitisation (Pretorius, Mawela, Strydom, De Villiers, & Johnson, 2015). Millennials form a large part of this sector and have transformed it with their striking characteristics (Robinson, 2017). They are currently at the peak of their careers, transitioning into leadership roles, or entering the job market (Canedo, Graen, Grace, &

Johnson, 2017). Many of them have acquired specific skills and are establishing themselves in various professions (Hirschi, 2018). However, they are faced with the challenge of building and establishing their careers during a time of great technological change and uncertainty (Canedo et al., 2017).

Millennials are under pressure to manage their careers during a period that is undergoing technological changes accompanied by accelerated change, talent shortage, mass unemployment and growing inequalities (WEF, 2016). Further, in a recent study conducted by Deloitte (2018), only a quarter of the leaders surveyed felt that their current workforce had the right skills for the future. This highlights how crucial it is for individuals to think about how they intend re-skilling and up-skilling themselves for current and future needs (Schwab, 2018). This creates a need to establish if this generation understands what the concept of the 4th Industrial Revolution is and what it means for their careers and professional development, as they are increasingly becoming the largest contributors to the new world of work (WEF, 2016). This study therefore sought to understand the perceptions in terms of the 4th Industrial Revolution among millennials working in an information technology company.

1.2. Literature Review

For the purpose of providing further context to the constructs of the proposed study, a brief literature synthesis was presented below dealing with the 4th Industrial Revolution first and thereafter the millennials.

1.2.1. The 4th Industrial Revolution

Industrial Revolutions are historical periods of change and disruption in various disciplines that are associated with society and the economy at large (Bonciu, 2017). They are based on the evolution of human knowledge and innovation, changing the values, behaviours, economic activities, and scales of power within various societies (Ślusarczyk, 2018). Industrial Revolutions may also affect the environment, positively or negatively, as they may require specific resources to generate specific outputs (Bonciu, 2017). They may have a positive impact in the form of useful products and services, or a negative impact in the form of waste, pollution, and climate change (Bonciu, 2017). In the context of the current economic climate, Schwab (2018), the founder of the World Economic Forum (WEF), relates the term "revolution" with aspects of industry, science and technology that are abrupt and change radically. Schwab (2018) argues that what differentiates an Industrial Revolution

from mere technological improvements is that it takes place at a larger scale, introducing a new way of performing certain activities.

The 4th Industrial Revolution is a concept that is mainly used in popular science to describe the current era of economic and technological advancements (Roblek et al., 2016). Introduced by the German Federal Government to promote its high-tech strategy, this multi-faceted term is made up of a variety of interdisciplinary concepts such as artificial intelligence, automation, robotics, cyber-physical systems, the internet of things (IoT), the internet of systems (IoS), machine learning and big data, to name a few. These concepts are characterised by three core aspects that uniquely distinguish the 4th Industrial Revolution from the previous ones. Firstly, they enable continuous interaction and exchange of information, not only between humans, but also humans and machines, and machine-to-machine (Roblek, Meško, & Krapež, 2016). Thus, increasing the integration of computation, networking, as well as physical processes (Glistau & Coello, 2018). Secondly, they are disruptive innovations that can create radical change, and allow for organisations to increase operational efficiencies and effectiveness. Lastly, they facilitate the development of machines that possess the ability to behave autonomously through technologies such as artificial intelligence and machine learning (Ślusarczyk, 2018).

Often used as a synonym for the planned 4th Industrial Revolution that brings about major technological potential, the 4th Industrial Revolution is comparable to the developments made in the 1st Industrial Revolution when the field of mechanisation emerged; the 2nd Industrial Revolution with the introduction of electricity; as well as the 3rd Industrial Revolution with the rise of computer services (Oesterreich & Teuteberg, 2016). As with the previous revolutions, the 4th Industrial Revolution is a paradigm shift as far as the pattern of innovation and technology is concerned (Kodama, 2018); therefore, enabling new capabilities for people and machines. Whilst these capabilities are reliant on the infrastructure of the 3rd Industrial Revolution, the 4th Industrial Revolution provides an entirely new way in which technology is embedded into society (Schwab, 2018). Automation and digitisation of certain job functions are enabled, making fundamental changes and technological breakthroughs to the concept of work as we know it (Hirschi, 2018). These elements create a digital value chain for organisations, resulting in an increase in efficiency, flexibility, and delivery times as the landscape becomes increasingly agile (Glistau & Coello, 2018). However, theorists argue

that this may lead to the redundancy of many jobs and the emergence of new occupations and industries (Hirschi, 2018).

1.2.2. Millennials

The study of generations in the workplace has been widely researched over the last few decades (Lyons, Urick, Kuron, & Schweitzer, 2015). Generations are classified using bands of time that include birth years of individuals sharing similar characteristics as shaped by specific events and conditions surrounding their lives (Johnston, 2013). As a guideline, generations are classified using an age range that is based on a common history of events, as well as conditions individuals experience during their formative years that ascertain who they are as a group (Martins & Martins, 2014). Thus, providing further insight into how different generations differ in social context and in the workplace (Heyns & Kerr, 2018). For the purpose of this study, the researcher focused on the millennial group.

With striking characteristics that have intrigued researchers, millennials have transformed the workplace over the years (Alton, 2019). Compared to previous generations, research suggests that they demonstrate contrasting attitudes, values, beliefs and aspirations (Buzza, 2017). Born between 1982 and 2000, they have become the largest population in the workplace and will dominate the work environment for years to come (Buzza, 2018; Heyns & Kerr, 2018). In South Africa, millennials are made up of a group that is old enough to be part of the old regime; however, not old enough to have participated in it. Millennials also constitute a group that was born into the new world order, referred to as the "born free" generation (Martins & Martins, 2014). The South African millennial cohort is characterised by, but not limited to, diversity and integration, participation in work teams, a need to be recognised, access to technology and global influence (Martins & Martins, 2014). They are also opinionated, achievement-orientated, energised and educated. However, it theorised that they lack experience, soft skills, deadline orientation and planning skills that could lead to conflict and frustration with the older generations (Martins & Martins, 2014).

The 4th Industrial Revolution is at its starting point, and to some extent, a large part of the technologies remain in the realm of theory and speculation (Butler-Adam, 2018). However, what is apparent is that digitisation and automation are changing the concept of work. Accordingly, as individuals in this generation progress in their respective occupations, maturing into higher ranks professionally, they will have to look at their careers differently

(Hirschi, 2018). Although this presents a lot of opportunities, it also creates some degree of uncertainty.

1.3. Research Questions

The major research question is "What are the perceptions of millennials working in an IT company in South Africa regarding the 4th Industrial Revolution?"

The following sub-questions were formulated in the context of the proposed study:

- How do millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution?
- What impact does the 4th Industrial Revolution have on millennials professionally?
- What opportunities have the 4th Industrial Revolution presented?
- What challenges have the 4th Industrial Revolution presented?
- What do millennials think is required from them to be aligned to the perceived changes introduced by the 4th Industrial Revolution?

1.4. Research Objectives

The research objectives were divided into general objectives as well as specific objectives.

1.4.1. General Objective

The general objective of this research was to establish millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company.

1.4.2. Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of this research were to:

- 1. Establish the way in which millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution;
- 2. Understand the impact that the 4th Industrial Revolution has had on millennials;
- 3. Establish the opportunities that the 4th Industrial Revolution has presented for millennials;
- 4. Ascertain the challenges that the 4th Industrial Revolution has presented for millennials; and
- 5. Understand what millennials felt is required from them to be aligned to the perceived changes that the 4th Industrial Revolution has introduced.

1.5. RESEARCH DESIGN

1.5.1. Research Approach

For the purpose of this study, a qualitative research approach was utilised. Qualitative research investigates the subjective opinions, attitudes, beliefs, and reflections of individual experiences in relation to the outer world (Percy, Kostere, & Kostere, 2015). It involves the collection of data through observing or interviewing participants to gain an understanding of their lived experiences and/or perceptions. This brings focus to the social aspects of research, through the lenses of individuals, in the attempt of answering a specific research question (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). The aim of this study was to understand the perceptions of millennials with regard to the 4th Industrial Revolutions. It is through a qualitative lens that the researcher believed that the ideas and hypotheses pertaining to this subject could be drawn or developed as subjects engaged with the phenomenon (Levitt, Motulsky, Wertz, Morrow, & Ponterotto, 2018). Thus, generating rich data from participant interviews in order to answer the research question (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018).

1.5.2. Research Philosophy

Philosophical assumptions and considerations guide the principles of the research process. For the purpose of this research, the ontological and epistemological approaches were discussed as follows:

1.5.2.1. Ontology

Ontology is defined as the science of 'what is?', and what constitutes reality (Joslin & Müller, 2016). It is concerned with identifying and understanding the existence, nature and causation of reality, with the focus being on the beliefs that reflect interpretations made by individuals as to what constitutes reality (Cushion & Partington, 2016). The ontological paradigm that was used to guide this research was from a constructivism view. From a social sciences perspective, a constructive paradigm is based on the argument that reality is constructed by individuals as they experience or perceive it (Xyst, 2016). Accordingly, in this case reality is theorised to be subjective, and is based on the engagement that one would have with the construct in question. Thus, the argument is that a researcher can truly understand a certain phenomenon by interacting with the people who experience it (Joslin & Müller, 2016). To understand millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution, the researcher engaged with millennials that are employed in an information technology company to establish their experiences and perceptions regarding the phenomenon.

1.5.2.2. Epistemology

Epistemology is concerned with the nature and scope of knowledge, and the way in which it is acquired. Its focus is on the origin, nature, methods, and limits of human knowledge, as well as the distinction between justified belief and opinion (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Epistemology further focuses on the relationship or interaction that exists between reality and the researcher. It examines the relationship between the knower or subject, and the 'would-be' knower, referred to as the researcher (Guyon, Kop, Juhel, & Falissard, 2018). Epistemology from a qualitative perspective therefore attempts to not only understand the world in a set of assumptions, but to also interrogate the beliefs held on a given body of evidence (Cushion & Partington, 2016).

The epistemological paradigm that was used to guide this research was that of interpretivism. An interpretive assumption aims to understand the subjects of interest in their subjective reality. The focus from this view is based on how individuals make sense of various situations as they encounter them (Packard, 2017). As such, the role of the researcher would be to understand, explain and clarify social reality through the eyes of the subjects or participants. This would then drive the formulation of concepts as data is obtained through the interaction (Isaeva, Bachmann, Bristow, & Saunders, 2015). For this study, the researcher gained insight on the research topic through participant experiences and their subjective interpretation, and the interpretation of the researcher.

1.6. Research Approach

In qualitative research, there are various research approaches that can be utilised that are humanistic, interactive and actively involve the subjects being researched (Englander, 2012). The research approach that was proposed for this study is a constructivist and naturalistic paradigm, known as interpretive description (Clark, Spence, & Holt, 2011). Interpretive description is a grounded approach that a researcher can apply to identify themes and patterns that emerge within the context of a phenomenon (Archibald, Caine, Ali, Hartling, & Scott, 2015). Although it is informed by relevant literature within a discipline that informs the research question, an interpretive description inquiry assumes that prior research cannot possibly encompass these multiple realities (Clark, Spence, & Holt, 2011).

The assumption is that multiple realities exist, and knowledge is generated as the researcher and subject interact to shape and co-create an understanding of a phenomenon (Clark, Spence, & Holt, 2011). The approach is therefore inductive, and the researcher would engage with subjects to collect data, establish themes and develop codes in developing theory (Brewer, Harwood, McCann, Crengle, & Worrall, 2014). For this study, the researcher engaged with participants, and recorded new topics and theoretical concepts that occurred as engagement took place in relation to the phenomenon. Themes were coded as the research progressed.

1.7. Research Method

1.7.1. Literature Review

In phase 1 a complete review regarding the 4th Industrial Revolution and millennials in South Africa was conducted. The sources that were consulted include online business reports, online articles, textbooks, academic journal articles, as well as databases such as Google Scholar and the North-West University online library. Articles used for the study were from studies that were conducted between the year 2014 and the year 2019. Articles older than the timeframe specified were consulted where necessary. The researcher also looked at studies in journals such as *The Journal of Organizational Change Management, Computers in Human Behaviour, South African Journal of Science, Journal of Human Resources, Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market and Complexity, Journal of Management, and the <i>Journal of Business Inquiry* amongst others, due to their relevance to this study. Further, the researcher consulted websites such as *Forbes.com, Deloitte* and the *World Economic Forum* due to the extensive and current studies that have been provided by these platforms. Key words used to search for articles relevant to the study are "4th Industrial Revolution", "Industry 4.0", "the future of work", "technology", "automation", "digitisation", "millennials", "future skills", and "skills gap".

1.7.2. Research Setting

The research was conducted at an IT company based in Gauteng, South Africa. Participants were provided with an information sheet and an informed consent form that required their signature prior to collecting data within their natural setting (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Once consent forms had been signed, the researcher commenced with the data collection process at the information technology company where the participants were employed.

1.7.3. Role of the Researcher

Creswell and Creswell (2018) suggest that it is the researcher's responsibility to ensure entry into a research location. Prior to collecting data, the researcher approached the management of the current organisation where he is employed. The researcher requested a meeting to discuss the intended research study with the relevant stakeholders. He also provided the relevant managers with an approval letter from the scientific and ethics committee, indicating the intention of the study, as well as the data collection process that was employed.

Creswell and Creswell (2018) further indicate that the role of the researcher needs to be clearly defined in a qualitative study. Therefore, it is imperative that the researcher is open about his or her personal perspective and position, as well as how this may impact the study. The researcher is an African male that is classified as a millennial and works for the HR department of the IT company where the study was conducted. In the briefing sessions, he established his role as a researcher, emphasising that the proposed research study is not being conducted in his capacity as an HR professional. The researcher also acknowledged that being familiar with the environment may create some degree of personal bias that could have resulted in him leaning towards concepts that he is familiar with. To mitigate this, Creswell and Creswell (2018) indicate that it is advisable for a researcher to make use of a reflective journal throughout the research process. The researcher of the proposed study kept a reflective journal in which the reactions and feelings of participants towards the research process, assumptions, as well as experiences and thoughts of the researcher were recorded. At a later stage, particularly when interpreting results, these notes were evaluated to establish how personal experiences may have influenced the results (Connelly, 2016).

1.7.4. Data Collection Procedure

1.7.4.1. Procedure

The collection of data for this research study was conducted at an IT company in Gauteng, South Africa. To seek approval to conduct interviews with employees, a letter was sent to the management team of the organisation. Furthermore, facilities were arranged to ensure that the rooms were conducive for interviews. Britten (1995) identifed a number of external factors, such as noise, that could possibly diminish the quality of interviews. With this in mind, the requirement was that the venue be free from disturbances; it also had to be private to reinforce confidentiality (Britten, 1995). Qu and Dumay (2011) suggest that a brief has to provide participants with an introduction of the research, the purpose of the interview, and the opportunity for participants to ask questions. Prior to commencement, participants were sent an invitation for a face-to-face interview. They were provided with a brief description of the research study, an outline of the interview structure, as well as the time required for the interview. Further, the interviews were conducted in English, using a semi-structured approach to guide the responses. The interviews were held during participants' lunch breaks, and they were scheduled for 45-60 minutes per interview.

1.7.4.2. Data Collection Method

Once permission had been granted by the university's Economics and Management Sciences Research Committee (EMS-REC), data was acquired from participants in the form of face-to-face interviews. An interview approach is a common method of data collection within the qualitative research realm. Although several research positions exist between the continuum end points of structured and unstructured interviews, the researcher made use of a semi-structured interview (Flick, 2018). A semi-structured interview process allowed the researcher to use a script, with some degree of improvisation. As such, open-ended questions were used to allow the researcher to have a degree of flexibility to diverge when further information relating to the topic was required (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). With this study, a semi-structured interview approach enabled the researcher to explore the opinions and perceptions of the respondents in a structured manner with some degree of flexibility.

1.7.4.3. Sampling Method

For this study, a purposive sampling approach was utilised. Purposive sampling provides the researcher with a degree of control in terms of the selection criteria of the sample chosen. As the name suggests, it is concerned with selecting a distinct sample on purpose using several factors or variables (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). This provides the researcher with the power to make decisions in terms of inclusion in the research, as well as exclusion (Flick, 2018). For this study, the researcher sought millennials (born between 1982 and 2000) that had been employed for longer than twelve months in an IT company. A twelve-month period provides participants with enough work exposure and context to the phenomenon. Additional to this, another inclusion criterion was that participants had to be fluent in English. Biographical information of the sample was retrieved to ensure that the sample met the minimum requirements. Such biographical information included age, race, educational

background, and length of employment in an information technology company. The researcher sought to interview a minimum of fifteen (n = 15) participants for the study. Interviews continued until the researcher reached data saturation. Data was therefore collected until there was no new information forthcoming from the interviews (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

1.7.4.4. Data Analysis

The nature of the analysis process of qualitative data is that it is not mechanical or technically structured like quantitative data (Connelly, 2016). Instead, it involves extensive notes, voice recordings of the interviews, and the researcher's reflective notes made during the interviews (Sutton & Austin, 2015). To understand the data gained from the semi-structured interviews, the researcher made use of a thematic analysis method. Thematic analysis is an approach that is used to identify, analyse and report patterns in qualitative data (Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013), allowing the researcher to see and make sense of shared meaning and experiences (Clarke, Braun, & Hayfield, 2015). As a starting point, the researcher listened to the recordings and went through the transcripts. This allowed the researcher to become engrossed into the researcher then quantified the themes and concepts by grouping them into thematic categories (Flick, 2018). This data was then analysed further to identify subthemes, validate the data, and to filter any themes that were not relevant to this study. The data was then visually organised into tables that are theme based (Crowe, Inder, & Porter, 2015).

1.7.4.5. Note Taking and Voice Recording

It is crucial that the process of data analysis be supported by researcher transcripts and notes, as well as voice recordings. This is because one cannot only depend on written notes due to the possibility of missing key details when taking notes during interviews (Britten, 1995). As such, all interviews were documented through note taking, as well as voice recording. The researcher then went through the notes and voice recordings repeatedly in order to become familiar with the data in such a way that themes could be identified. To ensure that participants were comfortable with the note taking and video recording process, they were made aware of this during the briefing process and permission was obtained prior to interviews being conducted.

1.7.5. Strategies Employed to Ensure Quality Data

To ensure that the data used for this research met the requirements in terms of trustworthiness and quality, the following strategies were undertaken;

1.7.5.1. Credibility

Credibility is concerned with establishing whether the research findings represent plausible data drawn from the information provided by participants. Its focus is on ensuring a degree of consistency between participants' views and the interpretations, as well as arguments made by the researcher (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). A qualitative study is therefore considered credible when its results or findings are recognisable to the individuals who share the experiences. There are several methods that exist for validating research credibility; one that was used for this study is member checking (Hameed et al., 2017). Member checking entails feeding back data, interpretations and conclusions to the groups who had supplied the data. This is to ensure that the researcher's interpretation of the phenomenon is consistent with how participants view it, as well as the way in which they have responded to the research questions (Treharne & Riggs, 2014). The researcher in this study ensured credibility by providing research participants with their interview scripts to validate that what had been recorded was a true reflection of their thoughts, and not those of the researcher. Further, the transcripts were sent to the respective participants to validate that what was transcribed was a true reflection of how the interviews had occurred.

Lastly, the researcher engaged in peer debriefing to further enhance the credibility of the study. Hadi and Closs (2016) suggest that a peer de-briefer must be a skilled qualitative researcher that can objectively interrogate the study, provide different perspectives, and ask meaningful questions that can support the researcher. That being so, the researcher discussed the research methodology, data analysis, and interpretations with colleagues and experts in qualitative research.

1.7.5.2. Transferability

Transferability refers to the extent in which the results of the study can be generalised or transferred to other contexts or settings (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Unlike other constructs of assessing the quality of data, the nature of transferability is that it is the reader that establishes the extent to which the study is applicable to participants' context (Connelly,

2016). To enable transferability, the researcher provided a detailed description of the research phenomenon, its constructs, as well as its context. This will enable readers to contextualise the research to their own settings, providing researchers with data for future studies within other contexts.

1.7.5.3. Dependability

Dependability refers to the stability of the research data over time and over various settings (Connelly, 2016). Its aim is to establish the extent to which the study is repeatable and consistent with the data collected (Ponelis, 2015). The researcher of this study provided a detailed research report that informed the reader of the research methods used, as well as why these methods were chosen over other methods. Creswell and Creswell (2017) suggest that it is imperative for the researcher to be overt about his or her own past experiences, biases and preconceived ideas that may influence the results of the study. Therefore, the researcher kept an audit trail of research processes, experiences and activities that will be made available to examiners should the need arise.

1.7.5.4. Confirmability

Confirmability is concerned with the degree of confidence that the research findings of the study are based on participants' narrative, and not the potential biases of the researcher (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Its purpose is to ensure that the research findings are shaped by the participants, as opposed to the researcher (Gunawan, 2015). Methods of confirmability include keeping an audit trail of analysis and methodological memos (Connelly, 2016). The researcher kept records of detailed notes with regard to the decisions and analyses made throughout the research process. These included aspects such as topics that are unique to the study, thoughts around the coding process, and the rationale used to group data. Further, these records included reflections of any ethical issues or dilemmas that may have occurred.

1.7.6. Ethical Considerations

Tracy (2011) argues that one has to consider what is 'wrong' and 'right' in terms of subjects taking part in a specific study, colleagues involved, and those sponsoring the research. For this study, the following ethical aspects were taken into consideration;

1.7.6.1. Voluntary Participation

Participants in this study were provided the opportunity to choose whether or not to participate in the research process. They were not coerced into participating; voluntary participation was emphasised (Baruch, May, & Yu, 2016). Furthermore, participants were informed that they will be permitted to withdraw from the study at any point in time, and their data will be removed from the findings of the study (Machado & Silva, 2016).

1.7.6.2. Informed Consent

Participants were provided with sufficient information regarding their participation in the study. This provided participants with the platform to exercise their right to informed consent (Tisherman, 2018). Participants were also provided with a letter of consent, which they were asked to sign. This letter included information that was related to the study and, based on this information, they had the option to sign the informed consent.

1.7.6.3. Anonymity and Privacy

Gibson, Benson, and Brand (2013) suggest that it is the researcher's responsibility to ensure that he or she does not disclose any identifiable information related to participants, and to protect the identity of participants by adopting processes that are designed to anonymise them. The researcher ensured anonymity by warranting that any information, such as names, email addresses, identity or employee numbers were not used. Creswell and Creswell (2017) also argue that it is the researcher's obligation to protect the privacy of those participating in the research. Numbers were assigned to participants in the research report and transcripts. Further, the researcher refrained from asking any personal questions that could have been used to identify any of the research participants.

1.8. Expected contributions of the study

1.8.1. Expected Contribution for the Individual

Based on varying circumstances, millennials are either entering the job market, whilst others are at the peak of their careers. They have acquired specific skills, and as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution, they may have to reconsider the direction their careers need to take. Theory argues that machine capability is fundamentally transforming the way in which work is performed and, essentially, the expertise required. Therefore, possibly making certain job functions redundant, and creating a demand for a new set of skills (Taylor, 2016), which may create a degree of uncertainty and job insecurity amongst millennials as work transforms.

With this taken into consideration, this research intended to initiate dialogue with millennials to establish their perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution, and to establish the resources required for them to transition and integrate into this era. Therefore, possibly assisting millennials in identifying the resources required to be ready for digitisation and establishing the opportunities that are going to be available as they navigate through changes presented by the 4th Industrial Revolution.

1.8.2. Expected Contribution for the Organisation

The WEF has theorised that the talent an organisation has acquired, will be a critical factor in the transition towards the 4th Industrial Revolution (Schwab, 2018). As organisations introduce automation, artificial intelligence, machine learning and predictive analytics, people will be an important component of the transition in terms of the adoption and optimisation of these technologies. As such, they need to be equipped with the ability to optimise technologies and, most importantly, have the desire to engage with them. This research intended creating awareness around the perceptions that millennials have towards the 4th Industrial Revolution. Thus, possibly allowing organisations to engage in initiatives that are relevant to the phenomenon.

1.8.3. Expected Contribution for Literature

The 4th Industrial Revolution is currently one of the most discussed topics amongst practitioners and researchers (Daemmrich, 2017). However, a large piece of the research conducted has focused on trends and technologies that will emerge, as well as the impact that they will have on different industries. Another focus point has also been on predictions made in terms of the redundancy of certain skills and the introduction of new skills. However, not enough research has been conducted to establish the perceptions individuals have about the changes that the 4th Industrial Revolution will present. The proposed study will provide qualitative data that focuses on people's experiences where the 4th Industrial Revolution is concerned. Therefore, providing insight and literature to the perceptions of employees and what is required to help them prepare for the changes that will be introduced.

1.9. Chapter division

The chapters in this mini-dissertation are presented as follows:

Chapter 1: Introduction.

Chapter 2: Research article.

Chapter 3: Conclusions, limitations and recommendations.

1.10. Time frames

Deliverable	Date
Presentation to Scientific Committee	May 2019
Submit ethics application	May 2019
Data Collection	June - July 2019
Data Analysis	August 2019
Writing Chapters 1 & 2	September 2019
Writing Chapter 3	September - November 2019
Submitting mini-dissertation for examination	18 November 2019

References

- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9–19. doi: 10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Al-Haddad, S., & Kotnour, T. (2015). Integrating the organizational change literature: A model for successful change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 28(2), 234–262. doi: 10.1108/JOCM-11-2013-0215
- Alton, L. (2019). 5 ways millennials will tranform the workplace in 2018. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/larryalton/2017/12/28/5-ways-millennials-will-transformthe-workplace-in-2018/#5c66faee558d
- Archibald, M. M., Caine, V., Ali, S., Hartling, L., & Scott, S. D. (2015). What is left unsaid:
 An interpretive description of the information needs of parents of children with asthma. *Research in Nursing & Health, 38*(1), 19–28. doi: 10.1002/nur.21635
- Aslam, U., Ilyas, M., Imran, M. K., & Rahman, U. U. (2016). Detrimental effects of cynicism on organizational change: An interactive model of organizational cynicism (A study of employees in public sector organizations). *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 29(4), 580–598. doi: 10.1108/JOCM-12-2014-0231
- Baesu, C., & Bejinaru, R. (2014). Leadership approaches regarding the organizational change. *The USV Annals of Economics and Public Administration*, *13*(2), 146–152.
- Baruch, A., May, A., & Yu, D. (2016). The motivations, enablers and barriers for voluntary participation in an online crowdsourcing platform. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 64, 923–931. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.07.039
- Bonciu, F. (2017). Evaluation of the impact of the 4th industrial revolution on the labor market. *Romanian Economic and Business Review*, *12*(2), 7–16.
- Brewer, K. M., Harwood, M. L., McCann, C. M., Crengle, S. M., & Worrall, L. E. (2014). The use of interpretive description within Kaupapa Māori research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(9), 1287–1297. doi: 10.1177/1049732314546002
- Britten, N. (1995). Qualitative research: Qualitative interviews in medical research. *BMJ*, *311*(6999), 251–253.
- Brynjolfsson, E., & McAfee, A. (2012). *Race against the machine*. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Brynjolfsson and McAfee.
- Butler-Adam, J. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution and education. *South African Journal of Science*, *114*(5), 1–8. doi: 10.17159/sajs.2018/a0271

- Buzza, J. S. (2017). Are you living to work or working to live? What millennials want in the workplace. *Journal of Human Resources*, *5*(2), 15–20. doi: 10.15640/jhrmls.v5n2a3
- Calk, R., & Patrick, A. (2017). Millennials through the looking glass: Workplace motivating factors. *The Journal of Business Inquiry*, *16*(2), 131–139.
- Canedo, J. C., Graen, G., Grace, M., & Johnson, R. D. (2017). Navigating the new workplace: Technology, millennials, and accelerating HR innovation. *IS Transactions on Human-Computer Interaction*, 9(3), 243–260.
- Chu, H. (2015). Research methods in library and information science: A content analysis. *Library & Information Science Research*, *37*(1), 36–41. doi: 10.1016/j.lisr.2014.09.003
- Clark, M. I., Spence, J. C., & Holt, N. L. (2011). In the shoes of young adolescent girls:
 Understanding physical activity experiences through interpretive description. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 3*(2), 193–210.
 doi:10.1080/2159676X.2011.57218
- Clarke, V., Braun, V., & Hayfield, N. (2015). Thematic analysis. *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods*, 222-248.
- Collings, D. G., & Isichei, M. (2018). The shifting boundaries of global staffing: Integrating global talent management, alternative forms of international assignments and nonemployees into the discussion. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(1), 165–187.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435–437.
- Contreras, J. D., Garcia, J. I., & Diaz, J. D. (2017). Developing of industry 4.0 applications. *International Journal of Online Engineering (iJOE)*, 13(10), 30–47. doi: 10.3991/ijoe.v13i10.733
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approaches (5th ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches.* West Sussex, United Kingdom: SAGE.
- Crowe, M., Inder, M., & Porter, R. (2015). Conducting qualitative research in mental health: Thematic and content analyses. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(7), 616–623. doi: 10.1177/0004867415582053

- Cushion, C., & Partington, M. (2016). A critical analysis of the conceptualisation of 'coaching philosophy'. *Sport, Education and Society*, *21*(6), 851–867.
- Daemmrich, A. (2017). Invention, innovation systems, and the fourth industrial revolution. *Technology & Innovation*, *18*(4), 257–265. doi: 10.21300/18.4.2017.25
- David, H. (2015). Why are there still so many jobs? The history and future of workplace automation. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 29(3), 3–30. doi: 10.1257/jep.29.3.3
- Davis, N. (2016). *What is the fourth industrial revolution?*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2016/01/what-is-the-fourth-industrial-revolution/
- Deloitte. (2018). *The fourth industrial revolution is here are you ready?* London, United Kingdom: Deloitte Insight.
- Devaney, S. A. (2015). Understanding the millennial generation. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 69(6), 11–14.
- De Vos, A. S., Strydom, H., Fouche, C. B., & Delport, C. S. (2011). Research at grass roots: For the social sciences and human service professions (4th ed.). Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik Publishers.
- Dimock, M. (2019). Defining generations: Where millennials end and generation Z begins. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/01/17/where-millennialsend-and-generation-z-begins/
- Dombrowski, U., & Wagner, T. (2014). Mental strain as field of action in the 4th industrial revolution. *Procedia CIRP*, *17*, 100–105. doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.01.077
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13–35. doi: 10.1163/156916212X632943
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

Flick, U. (2018). An introduction to qualitative research. London, United Kingdom: SAGE.

- Forum, W. E. (2018). *The future of jobs report 2018*. Retrieved from http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2018.pdf
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416.
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20(1), 18–29. doi: 10.1177/0969733012452684

- Gill, M. J. (2015). Elite identity and status anxiety: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of management consultants. *Organization*, 22(3), 306–325.
- Glistau, E., & Coello, N. I. (2018). Industry 4.0, logistics 4.0 and materials-chances and solutions. *Materials Science Forum*, 9(19), 307–314. doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.919.307
- Gunawan, J. (2015). Ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Belitung Nursing Journal*, *1*(1), 10–11.
- Guyon, H., Kop, J. L., Juhel, J., & Falissard, B. (2018). Measurement, ontology, and epistemology: Psychology needs pragmatism-realism. *Theory & Psychology*, 28(2), 149–171. doi: 10.1177/0959354318761606
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38(3), 641–646. doi:10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Hameed, I., Khan, A. K., Sabharwal, M., Arain, G. A., & Hameed, I. (2017). Managing successful change efforts in the public sector: An employee's readiness for change perspective. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 1–24. doi: 10.1177/0734371X17729869
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, 31(3), 498–501. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Heyns, M. M., & Kerr, M. D. (2018). Generational differences in workplace motivation. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 16(1), 1–10. doi: 10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.967
- Hirschi, A. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution: Issues and implications for career research and practice. *Career Development Quarterly*, 66(3), 192–204.
- Isaeva, N., Bachmann, R., Bristow, A., & Saunders, M. N. (2015). Why the epistemologies of trust researchers matter. *Journal of Trust Research*, 5(2), 153–169.
- Johnston, K. (2013). A guide to educating different generations in South Africa. *Issues in Informing Science and Information Technology*, *10*(1), 261–273.
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043–1056. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Kodama, F. (2018). Learning mode and strategic concept for the 4th industrial revolution. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 4(3), 32–38. doi: 10.3390/joitmc4030032

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 120–124. doi: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2018).
 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4(1), 2–6. doi: 10.1037/qup0000082
- Lyons, S., Urick, M., Kuron, L., & Schweitzer, L. (2015). Generational differences in the workplace: There is complexity beyond the stereotypes. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 8(3), 346–356. doi: 10.1017/iop.2015.48.
- Machado, H., & Silva, S. (2016). Voluntary participation in forensic DNA databases:
 Altruism, resistance, and stigma. *Science, Technology, & Human Values, 41*(2), 322–343. doi: 10.1177/0162243915604723
- Mardhatillah, A., Rahman, S. A., & Ismail, K. (2017). The relationship between psychosocial predictors and employee readiness to change. *International Journal of Economics & Management*, 11(2), 345–364.
- Martins, N., & Martins, E. C. (2014). Perceptions of age generations regarding employee satisfaction in a South African organisation. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(21), 129–140. doi: 10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n21p129
- Matsutani, M. (2019). *Mastering the fourth industrial revolution*. Retrieved from https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2016/01/20/business/mastering_fourth_industrial_ revolution/#.XFc7F2IS-po
- Oesterreich, T. D., & Teuteberg, F. (2016). Understanding the implications of digitisation and automation in the context of Industry 4.0: A triangulation approach and elements of a research agenda for the construction industry. *Computer in Industry*, 121–139. doi: 10.1016/j.compind.2016.09.006
- Packard, M. D. (2017). Where did interpretivism go in the theory of entrepreneurship? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 32(5), 536–549. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusvent.2017.05.004
- Paley, J. (2016). *Phenomenology as qualitative research: A critical analysis of meaning attribution*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76–85.

- Ponelis, S. R. (2015). Using interpretive qualitative case studies for exploratory research in doctoral studies: A case of information systems research in small and medium enterprises. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10(1), 535–550.
- Qu, S. Q., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8(3), 238–264. doi:10.1108/11766091111162070
- Raffert, A. E., Jimmieson, R. H., & Amenkis, A. (2012). Change readiness: A multilevel review. *Journal of Management*, 2(1), 1–26. doi: 10.1177/0149206312457417
- Roblek, V., Meško, M., & Krapež, A. (2016). A complex view of industry 4.0. *Sage Open*, 6(2), 1–11. doi: 10.1177/2158244016653987
- Robinson, K. (2017). *Fin24*. Retrieved from https://www.fin24.com/Finweek/Featured/themillennial-investors-mind set-20171018
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. (2018). Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45(2), 209–213.
- Salleh, N., Amin, W., & Mamat, I. (2017). Employee readiness, training design and work environment in influencing training transfer among academic staff. *International Journal* of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 7(10), 275–290. doi: 10.6007/IJARBSS/v7-i10/3376
- Samaranayake, S. U., & Takemura, T. (2017). Employee readiness for organizational change: A case study in an export oriented manufacturing firm in Sri Lanka. *Eurasian Journal of Business and Economics 2017*, 10(20), 1–16. doi: 10.17015/ejbe.2017.020.01
- Schwab, K. (2018). *The fourth industrial revolution*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/about/the-fourth-industrial-revolution-by-klaus-schwab
- Shah, N., Irani, Z., & Sharif, A. M. (2017). Big data in an HR context: Exploring organizational change readiness, employee attitudes and behaviors. *Journal of Business Research*, 70, 366–378. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.010
- Ślusarczyk, B. (2018). Industry 4.0: Are we ready? *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, *17*(1), 232–248. doi: 10.17512/pjms.2018.17.1.19
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226–231.
- Stemler, S. E. (2015). Content analysis. *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences: An Interdisciplinary, Searchable, and Linkable Resource*, 1–14.

- Taylor, A. M. (2016). The future of the professions: How technology will transform the work of human experts. *Social Work Education: The International Journal*. doi: 10.1080/02615479.2016.1165474
- Tisherman, S. A. (2018). Defining "community" and "consultation" for emergency research that requires an exception from informed consent. *AMA Journal of Ethics*, 20(5), 467–474.
- Tracy, S. (2011). The ethics of obtaining consent in labour for research. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 51(6), 485–492. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-828X.2011.01341.x
- Treharne, G. J., & Riggs, D. W. (2014). Ensuring quality in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Clinical and Health Psychology*, 57–73. doi: 10.1111/ap.12088
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & health sciences*, 15(3), 398-405.
- World Economic Forum. (2016). The future of jobs: Employment, skills and workforce strategy for the fourth industrial revolution. Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum.
- Xu, M., David, J. M., & Kim, S. H. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution: Opportunities and challenges. *International Journal of Financial Research*, *9*(2), 1–6.
- Xyst, K. (2016). Constructivism, Dewey, and academic advising. *NACADA Journal*, *36*(2), 11–19.

CHAPTER 2

ARTICLE 1

ABSTRACT

Orientation: The 4th Industrial Revolution describes the current economic and technological changes that are transforming the way in which people live and work. It is integrating humans and machines, as well as the physical and cyber aspects through introducing pervasive technologies. Millennials are becoming the largest workforce of this era and, as they progress in their careers, it is imperative to understand their perceptions towards it.

Research purpose: The purpose of this study was to explore millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company.

Motivation for the study: Although there are several studies that address the 4th Industrial Revolution, many have focused on defining the phenomenon, as well as predicting its outcome and impact in various contexts. However, there is not enough research that addresses the extent to which millennials perceive the 4th Industrial Revolution and its impact on their career aspirations.

Research design, approach and method: A qualitative research approach was employed in this study, and semi-structured interviews were used to obtain data from fifteen (n = 15) millennials working in an information technology company. Thematic analysis was then used to analyse the interview discussions.

Main findings: The results of this study indicate that millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution as a new era that has introduced technologies such as artificial intelligence, automation, biotechnology and robotics. They believe that these technologies will be further integrated into their lives, alleviating them of administrative and manually intensive work. They also suggest that this era will make certain jobs redundant; however, it will create new opportunities as it progresses. Millennials believe that they need to transform their skills to align to this era. They further suggest that organisations need to be transparent about their strategies to digitise, supporting them through initiatives that will enable Millennials to reskill.

Practical implications: This study will provide organisations with insight on how to support their millennial workforce in transitioning towards the 4th Industrial Revolution.

Contribution/value add: This study provides insight into millennials' perceptions towards the 4th Industrial Revolution. This will allow researchers, as well as leaders of organisations, to focus on initiatives that support the millennial workforce in focusing on relevancy and readiness for this era.

Keywords: 4th Industrial Revolution, industry 4.0, millennials, technological revolution, digitisation, workplace

The 4th Industrial Revolution is one of the most important societal and economic trends in the world (Hirschi, 2018). This is because it is fundamentally changing the nature of business, work and society at large (Daemmrich, 2017). Thus, bridging the lines between the physical, digital, and biological aspects, resulting in deeper integration of technology into society, and even challenging ideas about it what it means to be human (Kodama, 2018). Whilst these changes hold great promises in terms of opportunities, they also pose major challenges that require organisations, governments, as well as individuals to proactively adapt (Schwab, 2018). From a South African perspective, President Cyril Ramaphosa has been playing a proactive role in strategically creating readiness for the country (Diko, 2019). The president has established the 'presidential commission of the 4th Industrial Revolution', with a mandate to identify opportunities presented by the 4th Industrial Revolution, and to create the necessary policies, strategies and action plans that will position South Africa as a competitive player in the global market (Marwala, 2019). Organisations are also aligning to these requirements as many of them are re-evaluating and adjusting their processes, technologies, and the skills that they require to be competitive in this era (Aslam, Ilyas, Imran, & Rahman, 2016). Thus, transforming labour requirements as automation and digitisation become prevalent within the various business functions (Hirschi, 2018).

It is apparent that technological developments are not only causing a widespread disruption to business models and various policies, but also to labour markets across all industries (Schwab, 2018). Research suggests that jobs are going to be further threatened by redundancies, whilst the creation of new skills grows rapidly as the demand of new jobs emerges (Collings & Isichei, 2018). The greatest challenge the world faces as a result of this is that, as the requirement for new capabilities increases, the current skills will not meet the demands of the technological progress made (Schwab, 2018). It is theorised that this will create further inequality in labour markets as those with the necessary skills gain further access to career opportunities (Butler-Adam, 2018). Technologies such as automation and artificial intelligence (AI) will progress to displace low skilled and entry level work, and the net displacement of workers by machines will exacerbate the gap between return on capital versus return on labour (Xu, David, & Kim, 2018). Those with the most relevant skills will become an organisation's most prized asset, alongside its digital strategy (Xu et al., 2018). Whilst reforming the current education system is critical towards aligning individuals to this era, it is not possible to weather the current demands and wait for the next generation to enter

the labour market (WEF, 2016). Therefore, the focus must be on the current generation - the millennials - that dominates existing labour markets across the various industries.

The IT sector is a key driver of the 4th Industrial Revolution, providing the infrastructure and innovation that facilitate the transition towards digitisation (Robinson, 2017). Millennials form a large part of the workforce employed in this sector, providing it with the necessary skills to drive various functions (Pretorius, Mawela, Strydom, Villiers, & Johnson, 2015). Most of them are at the peak of their careers, in leadership roles, or entering the job market (Canedo, Graen, Grace, & Johnson, 2017). Although they are technologically inclined, like most, they are also under pressure of transforming their careers during a period of rapid change and uncertainty (WEF, 2016). The challenge that they face is that research is polarised between those that anticipate large scales of job dislocation and, in contrast, those that are optimistic and foresee limitless career opportunities (Schwab, 2018). Thus, creating a degree of complexity and making it challenging for millennials to navigate in this era (Butler-Adam, 2018). Therefore, the objective of this study was to establish millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company.

The following section reviewed the relevant literature, based on the 4th Industrial Revolution and millennials in South Africa. The research design is then presented, followed by a report on the data gathered. The manuscript is then concluded after a detailed discussion on the main findings, limitations of the study, and recommendations for future research.

Literature Review

4th Industrial Revolution

The term 'Industrial Revolution' is a common phrase that refers to a historical period of major change and industrialisation (Bonciu, 2017). It encompasses moments of transition and disruption in multiple facets that impact the economy and society at large (Schwab, 2018). This is brought on by the evolution of human knowledge and innovation that leads to change in behaviours, values, economic activities, as well as balances of power regionally and globally (Allen, 2015). Schwab (2018), the founder of the World Economic Forum (WEF), describes the term "revolution", whether industrial, scientific or technological, to change that is major and abrupt. What makes it a revolution, as opposed to mere improvements in specific aspects, is the extent to which it radically transforms social and economic activities on a large scale (Schwab, 2018); thus, introducing perspective in terms of how the world is
perceived, as well as new technological capabilities (Allen, 2015). These technologies create the potential to produce more goods and services effectively, equally affecting aspects such as economic performance, health, education, and preservation of nature (Mokyr, 2004).

An Industrial Revolution is a complex phenomenon that cannot be related to a single year and single place due to its incremental nature, and the way in which it expands to different regions at different points in time (Bonciu, 2017). To provide context, authors identify periods that correspond with a specific technological or scientific discovery that has commercial impact (Bonciu, 2017). Industrial Revolutions have gone through four phases of transition, and each one has presented its own specifics (Carvalho, Chaim, Cazarini, & Gerolamo, 2018). Although each one is considered a separate event, as a collective, they can be understood as a series of events that build upon the technologies and innovations of the previous revolutions (Xu, David, & Kim, 2018).

The first one was theorised to have taken place in Britain and spread to Western Europe, the USA, and the rest of the world between 1760 and 1840 (Yao & Lin, 2016). During this period, mechanisation emerged and replaced agriculture as the economic structure of society (Allen, 2009). This was characterised by a complex interplay of changes in society, technology, medicine, education and the economy, in which inventions such as steam power, rail roads and, later in the nineteenth century, internal combustion engines were introduced (Yao & Lin, 2016). This enabled the introduction of manufacturing processes that transformed the economy from one that relied on agriculture and handicraft, to one that was machine-based (Sentryo , 2017). As the adoption of machinery increased, the first factories emerged and the concept of mass production became prevalent (Brooks, 2018).

Mass production yielded a large increase in the total output of goods (Allen, 2009). Operational and manually intensive tasks that were once done by hand, were now being done by machines, and this significantly increased the rate at which goods could be produced. This created many work opportunities within the new factories, and many moved from farms to industrialised cities in search of wage-related jobs (Brooks, 2018). During this period, the principles of 'division of labour' were established (Dietz, 2008). This was based on the ideology that when processes are divided into individual tasks and each employee is assigned one specific task, this will yield greater output than having one employee perform an end-to-end process on his or her own (Batt & Doellgast, 2005). This improved productivity;

however, making work repetitive and mundane (Dietz, 2008). Further, workers were forced to work long hours performing operational tasks for low wages (Batt & Doellgast, 2005). In the years that followed, this fueled the formation of labour movements, unions and laws that protected workers from unfair labour practices (Blinder, 2006). The end of this era came about as a result of a slowdown in macro inventions, and the 2nd Industrial Revolution slowly emerged (Brooks, 2018).

Several events in the 1850s indicated a shift in technology; however, historians date the 2nd Industrial Revolution from 1870 to 1914 (Mokyr, 2004). Whilst the 1st Industrial Revolution introduced the growth of industries such as iron, coal, rail roads and textiles, the 2nd Industrial Revolution was the beginning and expansion of petroleum, steel, nuclear, radio, television, the telephone and electricity (Leonard & Ljungberg, 2010). Electricity fundamentally changed the way in which people lived and worked, as well as the way in which industries operated. Prior to this, candles and gas lamps were used to light up factories and homes, limiting activities to being conducted during the daytime only (Rifkin, 2012). However, as electricity became commercially viable, businesses could operate through the night (Rosenberg, 1998). Over the course of this period, light became independent of the time of day, and brought networks of cables into homes and offices (Rosenberg, 1998), making it easier to add appliances and machinery that run on electrical energy (Mokyr, 2004). This led to more efficient and inexpensive production processes that required less human intervention (Leonard & Ljungberg, 2010). Other developments that were made in this era were transportation, specifically the invention of automobiles and airplanes. This allowed movement of people and culminated the concept of globalisation as travelling became easier across the world (Mokyr, 2004).

As the 2nd Industrial Revolution progressed, the production of goods became increasingly mechanised (Leonard & Ljungberg, 2010). Mass production spread, scientific management was introduced to the workplace, and scientific knowledge was systematically applied to industrial technology (Troxler, 2013). Society became centralised, as well as highly bureaucratic and thus highly efficient (Mokyr, 2004). This was the beginning of automation and firms could produce more goods with a smaller workforce (Xu et al., 2018). Working hours dropped to an all-time low, and eventually job losses became eminent (Voth, 2003). However, as industries produced more goods and competition increased, the concept of work shifted once again (Blinder, 2006). This time towards services-related jobs, which created a

divide between 'blue collar' and 'white collar' workers (Troxler, 2013). The blue-collar worker denotes a worker that performs manual and intensive labour; a white-collar worker is a worker who performs professional, managerial or administrative work (Barley & Kunda, 2001). With education changing the social system at this time, white-collar workers typically had a high school diploma, and many further obtained degrees in specific professions (Blinder, 2006). This gave rise to areas such as accounting, banking, architecture and engineering as professions in the workplace (Barley & Kunda, 2001). The middle class progressed, standards of living improved, and the purchasing power of the worker drastically improved as the world transitioned towards the 3rd Industrial Revolution (Blinder, 2006).

The 3rd Industrial Revolution, also known as the information age, started in 1960 and was marked by the introduction of electronics and information technology (Xu et al., 2018). This era was the beginning of economic developments and the enhancement of productivity through information technology and automation (Blinder, 2006). It was based on rapid technological enhancements in computers and communication that led to a decrease in the cost of searching, creating, transmitting, and processing data as the years progressed (Schwab, 2018). The efficiency of mass production was greatly enhanced by computers as the transition from analogue to digital accelerated (Liu & Grusky, 2013). A key development of this was the discovery of the internet, which enabled networked communication and exchange of information (Rifkin, 2012). Over the years, the internet forced organisations to redefine themselves and the way in which they operate as businesses (Blinder, 2006). Therefore, as with the preceding Industrial Revolutions, the 3rd Industrial Revolution also profoundly changed the way in which society operated and the way in which work was performed, with information technology becoming a critical concept in various aspects (Liu & Grusky, 2013).

Although the 3rd Industrial Revolution was destined to automate a lot of functions, it also created thousands of businesses and, in the same context, millions of jobs (Rifkin, 2012). The development of new technologies and services fostered economic growth and, in turn, new principles to the concept of work (Bonciu, 2017). This changed the concept of traditional and transactional work, to complex work that required some degree of problem solving, experience, and knowledge (Van Dam, 2017). Furthermore, with globalisation at its core, organisations in this era had the ability to move some of their skills capability offshore (Prisecaru, 2016), allowing them to optimise on skills in regions where labour is inexpensive

(Schwab, 2018). As the world became more competitive, organisations had to find various ways of running their businesses in the most efficient manner, and it is through leveraging technologies of this era that they could achieve this (Prisecaru, 2016). In the quest for further efficiencies, the world has pivoted away from this era to one with a fusion of autonomy, artificial intelligence and interoperability, known as the 4th Industrial Revolution (Schwab, 2018).

The 4th Industrial Revolution was introduced by the German Federal Government in 2011, at the Hannover fair, to describe and promote its global value chain and high-tech strategy (Glistau & Coello, 2018). This concept was initially used for the purpose of describing and enabling smart factories in which virtual and physical systems were integrated in such a way that the customisation of products took place with little human intervention (Bonciu, 2017). However, this era is not only about smart and connected machines or systems and has progressed to encompass breakthroughs in a number of areas, such as artificial intelligence (AI), automation, robotics, cyber-physical systems, the internet of things (IoT), the internet of systems (IoS), as well as machine learning (Roblek, Meško, & Krapež, 2016). Technologies of this nature are made up of three core aspects, distinguishing the 4th Industrial Revolution from the previous ones (Ślusarczyk, 2018).

Firstly, the technologies developed in this era enable a continuous interaction and exchange of information, not only between humans, but also humans and machines, and machine-to-machine (Roblek et al., 2016). Therefore, increasing the integration of computers, networks, as well as physical processes (Xu et al., 2018). Secondly, these technologies are disruptive in nature, creating radical change that enables organisations to optimise on the effectiveness and efficiency of innovation (Morrar, Arman, & Mousa, 2017). Lastly, they facilitate the development of machines that have the capability to operate autonomously through concepts of artificial intelligence and machine learning (Prisecaru, 2016).

The 4th Industrial Revolution grew from the 3rd Industrial Revolution; however, it is considered a new era rather than a continuation (Schwab, 2018). This is because, unlike the preceding revolution, it blurs the lines between the physical, digital and biological spheres, and has made way for a deeper integration of technology in society (Xu et al., 2018). Therefore, influencing all business disciplines, economies, consumption patterns, and even challenging what it means to be human (Morrar et al., 2017). At the core of these pervasive

inventions is the objective of optimising on smart innovations that interact with each other in such way that there is an increase in economies of scale and return on investment (Dombrowski & Wagner, 2014). Thus, organisations are encouraged to re-assess their processes, technologies, organisational behaviours, and skills to enable collaboration between humans and machines in such a way that it provides a competitive advantage (Aslam, Ilyas, Imran, & Rahman, 2016). This leads to the digitisation and automation of specific functions and, in the process, the disruption of the labour market with new skills emerging (Morrar et al., 2017). Therefore, as the 4th Industrial Revolution progresses, theorists suggest that machines will become even more productive and augmented into various areas of society, dislocating certain jobs (Schwab, 2018). However, as with previous eras, new industries and skills will emerge (Hirschi, 2018). Millennials are at the forefront of this era, because as a large part of the current workforce, they are the most impacted by the 4th Industrial Revolution (Calk & Patrick, 2017). More so, they will have to immerse themselves further into technology as it will further impact their career decisions.

Millennials

The interest in generations, as well as generational differences, has been widely researched over the last few decades (Lyons, Urick, Kuron, & Schweitzer, 2015). Generations are defined using categories that are based on bands of time and birth years (Johnston, 2013). People born in these birth cohorts are theorised to share similar characteristics that are shaped by similar historical events and conditions experienced during their formative years (Heyns & Kerr, 2018). This includes the way in which they were raised, technologies they were exposed to, and the economy at large (Johnston, 2013). This influences aspects such as values, preferences, expectations and motivation (Lyons et al., 2015); thus, providing insight into how the various generations differ in social context and in the workplace as a result of the different life stages they experience (Heyns & Kerr, 2018). There are several generational groups that have been identified, namely veterans, baby boomers, generation x, and millennials. However, the dates used to group them differ from one author to the next (Martins & Martins, 2014). Heyns and Kerr (2018) suggest that South Africa has its own unique historical events, compared to western countries, and this has caused a degree of fragmentation. Therefore, the social and political context, for South Africa in particular, needs to be considered when categorising generations (Brown, 2017). For the purpose of this study, South African millennials were classified to be born between 1982 and 2000 (Martins & Martins, 2014).

Millennials in South Africa comprise a group that is old enough to be a part of the old regime, but not old enough to have participated in it (Martins & Martins, 2014). On the other hand, it consists of individuals, known as born-frees, born into the new world order (Martins & Martins, 2014). Millennials have grown up in a period that is racially and culturally integrated, as well as connected to the rest of the world (Geradine-Brown, 2017). The different cultures and races in this generation have more in common and are more diverse than their counterparts (Smith & Clark, 2010). Further, they are considered to be the most confident of the generations as they were raised by child-focused parents whose focus was on building their children's self-esteem and dedicating their time to raising them (Chou, 2012; Martins & Martins, 2014). Compared to the other generations, millennials demonstrate contrasting attitudes, values, beliefs and aspirations (Chou, 2012). Firstly, they are educated and technologically well informed, and generally rely on technologies such as smart devices to communicate and perform tasks (Gibson & Sodeman, 2014). They are family centric and prioritise their work-life balance compared to the older generations (Hershatter & Epstein, 2010). They are described as ambitious, achievement-orientated and have a desire for meaningful work and recognition (Nolan, 2015). On the other hand, researchers suggest that they tend to lack experience, soft skills, deadline orientation and the ability to plan, which could lead to conflict and frustration with the older generations (Martins & Martins, 2014).

Millennials make up the largest and the fastest growing segment of the current workforce (Calk & Patrick, 2017). They bring new attitudes, technologies and ideas to the work environment that leaders need to consider (Buzza, 2017). They seek a management approach and organisational culture that are significantly different from the other generational cohorts (Chou, 2012). They also have high expectations of their employers and are not afraid to question authority (Kuron, Lyons, Schweitzer, & Ng, 2015). Millennials are immersed in a culture of hyper feedback due to social media and, as a result, they seek quicker feedback from their managers and peers (Rodney & Wakeham, 2016). When compared to other generational cohorts, they are more likely to change jobs regularly and are less likely to stay in a single company throughout their careers (Buzza, 2017). This is because they move with the view of progressing their careers and exposing themselves further (Kuron et al., 2015). However, they are willing to exert effort where performance is concerned and have a strong personal commitment towards making a contribution (Calk & Patrick, 2017).

Millennials are 'digital natives' and dominate the information technology environment (Au-Yong-Oliveira, Gonçalves, Martins, & Branco, 2018). They are immersed in technology and this has shaped the way in which they interact, as well as their career choices (Au-Yong-Oliveira et al., 2018). As the 4th Industrial Revolution progresses, this is going to be critical as companies in the IT sector progress to offer further growth opportunities that impact all the other sectors. However, in as much as it impacts other sectors, skills in this domain will undergo the same changes.

The world has pivoted away from the 3rd Industrial Revolution and the 4th Industrial Revolution is in its early days (Schwab, 2018). Although many advancements have been made, a big part of the concepts and technologies discussed are still in the realm of theory and speculation, causing uncertainty (Butler-Adam, 2018). Nonetheless, what remains consistently apparent is the transformation of jobs and the introduction of new ways of work (Bonciu, 2017). Technology in this era is set to cause widespread disruption to labour markets, with major changes in the skills sets required to thrive in the new landscape (Glistau & Coello, 2018). As millennials increasingly dominate the market, specifically the IT sector, they will have to think of how to strategically position their careers in an environment that is dominated by robots that can function autonomously and machines that can learn and unlearn things. This research, therefore, aims to explore the perceptions of millennials working in an IT company towards the 4th Industrial Revolution.

Research Objectives

The research objectives of this study were divided into general and specific objectives.

General Objective

The general objective of this research was to establish the perceptions about the 4th Industrial Revolution by millennials employed in an information technology company.

Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of this research were to:

- 1. Establish the way in which millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution;
- 2. Understand the impact that the 4th Industrial Revolution has had on millennials;
- 3. Establish the opportunities that the 4th Industrial Revolution has presented for millennials;

- 4. Establish the challenges that the 4th Industrial Revolution has presented for millennials; and
- 5. Understand what millennials think is required from them to be aligned to the perceived changes that the 4th Industrial Revolution has introduced.

Research Design

Research Approach

A qualitative research approach was utilised for this study. This involved the collection of data through observing or interviewing participants to gain an understanding of their lived experiences and/or perceptions. This brought about a focus on the research phenomenon through the lens of the individual in terms of answering the research question (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018). The focus of this study was to understand the perceptions of millennials working in an IT company about the 4th Industrial Revolution. It was through a qualitative lens that the researcher believed that ideas and hypotheses related to the subject could be drawn or developed as subjects engaged with the phenomenon (Levitt, Motulsky, Wertz, Morrow, & Ponterotto, 2018). Thus, rich data was generated from participant interviews in terms of answering the research question (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018).

Research Strategy

The research strategy that was followed in this study is of a constructivist and naturalistic paradigm, known as interpretive description (Clark, Spence, & Holt, 2011). Interpretive description is a grounded approach that a researcher can apply to identify themes and patterns that emerge within the context of a phenomenon (Archibald, Caine, Ali, Hartling, & Scott, 2015). The approach is inductive in nature; therefore, the researcher engaged with subjects to collect data, establish themes and develop themes (Brewer, Harwood, McCann, Crengle, & Worrall, 2014).

Research Method

Literature Review

In phase 1 the researcher conducted a complete review of the 4th Industrial Revolution and millennials in South Africa. The sources consulted included, but were not limited to, online business reports, online articles, textbooks, academic journal articles, as well as databases such as Google Scholar and the North-West University online library. The articles that the

researcher used for this research were from studies that have been conducted between the years 2014 and 2019. Articles older than the timeframe specified were consulted in various aspects. The researcher made use of studies in journals such as *The Journal of Organizational Change Management, Computers in Human Behaviour, South African Journal of Science, Journal of Human Resources, Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market and Complexity, Journal of Management, and the Journal of Business Inquiry amongst others, due to their relevance to this study. Further, the researcher consulted websites such as <i>Forbes.com, Deloitte* and the *World Economic Forum* due to the extensive studies that have been conducted by these sources. Key words used to search for articles for this study were "4th Industrial Revolution", "industry 4.0", "the future of work", "technology", "automation", "digitisation", "millennials", "future skills", and "skills gap".

Research Setting

The research was conducted at an IT company based in Gauteng, South Africa. Participants were provided an overview of the study, as well as an informed consent form that required their signatures prior to collecting data within their natural setting (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Once the consent forms had been signed, the researcher proceeded with the data collection process at the organisation where the participants were employed.

Role of the Researcher

Creswell and Creswell (2018) suggest that it is the researcher's duty to ensure participants gain the necessary entry into the identified research location. Prior to collecting data, the researcher communicated with the management of the current organisation. The researcher then requested a meeting to discuss the intended research study with the relevant stakeholders. He also provided the respective managers with a letter from the scientific and ethics committee, indicating the objective of the study and the data collection process.

Creswell and Creswell (2018) further indicate that the role of the researcher must be defined in a qualitative study. Therefore, it is imperative that the researcher is open about his or her position and standpoint and its possible impact on the study. The researcher is an African male, classified as a millennial and works for the HR department of the relevant IT company. In the briefing sessions, he established his role as a researcher, stressing that the research study was not being conducted in his capacity as an HR business partner of the organisation. The researcher also acknowledged that being immersed in the organisation may create some degree of personal bias that may result in him leaning towards concepts that he is familiar with. To mitigate this, Creswell and Creswell (2018) suggest that it is advisable that a researcher makes use of a reflective journal throughout the research process. The researcher kept a reflective journal where records of things such as the reactions and feelings of participants towards the research process were kept, as well as experiences and thoughts of the researcher. At a later stage of the study, particularly when interpreting results, these notes were incorporated to establish how personal experiences may have influenced the results (Connelly, 2016).

Sampling Method

This study utilised a purposive sampling approach, providing the researcher with a degree of control regarding the selection criteria of the sample selected (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). This provided the researcher with the ability to make decisions as to inclusion and exclusion of participants (Flick, 2018). For this study, the researcher sought millennials (born between 1982 and 2000) that have been employed for longer than twelve months in an IT company. A twelve-month period provided participants with the necessary work exposure and context to the phenomenon. Also, another inclusion criterion was fluency in English. Biographical information of the sample was captured to ensure that the sample met the minimum requirements. Such biographical information included age, race, education, type of employment, and length of employment. The researcher sought to interview a minimum of fifteen (n = 15) participants for the study.

Table 1

Participant	Gender	Age Range	Race	Tenure	Occupation
Participant 1	Female	31 - 37 years	Coloured	7 years +	Project manager
Participant 2	Female	25 - 30 years	African	4 - 6 years	Training specialist
Participant 3	Male	31 - 37 years	Coloured	7 years +	Training specialist
Participant 4	Female	19 - 24 years	African	1 - 3 years	Product manager
Participant 5	Male	25 - 30 years	Indian	4 - 6 years	Product manager
Participant 6	Female	19 - 24 years	White	1 - 3 years	Network engineer
Participant 7	Male	31 - 37 years	White	7 years +	Network engineer
Participant 8	Male	31 - 37 years	African	1 - 3 years	Project manager
Participant 9	Male	31 - 37 years	African	7 years +	Operations manager
Participant 10	Male	25 - 30 years	African	4 - 6 years	Product manager
Participant 11	Male	31 - 37 years	African	4 - 6 years	Installations engineer
Participant 12	Female	31 - 37 years	African	7 years +	Risk Analyst
Participant 13	Female	31 - 37 years	Indian	7 years +	Project manager
Participant 14	Male	25 - 30 years	African	7 years +	Security engineer
Participant 15	Male	31 - 37 years	African	7 years +	Security engineer

Characteristics of Research Participants (n=15)

Table 1 indicates that there were 15 participants in this research study. In terms of gender, the sample was divided into 60% male and 40% female. Most of the population group was between ages 31-37 years as 60% of the group was represented by this category. This was followed by participants aged 25-30 years (27%), and participants aged 19-24 years (13%). In terms of race, the participant group comprised 60% Africans, 13.3% Coloureds, 13.3% Indians, and 13.3% Whites. Lastly, the tenure presented by the participants was 7+ years (53.3%), 4-6 years (26.7%), and 1-3 years (20%).

Data Collection Method

Once permission had been granted by the university's Economics and Management Sciences Research Committee (EMS-REC), data was gathered from participants in the form of face-to-face interviews. A semi-structured interview process was followed, enabling the researcher to use a script, with the flexibility to improvise where required (Flick, 2018). It also allowed the researcher to explore the opinions and perceptions of the respondents in a structured manner with the ability to probe further. To achieve this, open-ended questions were used to allow

the researcher a degree of flexibility to diverge when further information relating to the topic was required (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

The qualitative interviews comprised the following interview questions;

- 1. What is your understanding of the 4th Industrial Revolution?
- 2. What impact has the 4th Industrial Revolution had on you professionally?
- 3. What opportunities have been presented to you as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution?
- 4. What challenges have you experienced as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution?
- 5. What do you think is required from you to be aligned to the perceived changes that the 4th Industrial Revolution has introduced? (Or the changes that will be presented in future?)

Note taking and voice recording

All the interviews conducted were audio recorded, and the researcher made use of field notes as the sessions progressed. Prior to this, participants were informed that the interviews will be recorded and noted. The recorded data was then transcribed verbatim and all transcripts, including field notes, were then prepared for the analysis phase of the research process. All the data that had been obtained during the research study was stored on the researcher's laptop and encrypted with a password. Only the researcher and his supervisor had access to the data set. Finally, all the data gathered, including audio recordings, transcripts and field notes were destroyed once they had been utilised for the intended purpose.

Data Analysis

The analysis process of qualitative data is not mechanical or technically structured as in quantitative data (Connelly, 2016). Instead, it consists of extensive notes, voice recordings of the interviews, and the researcher's reflective notes made during the interviews (Sutton & Austin, 2015). To understand the data gained from the semi-structured interviews, the researcher made use of thematic analysis. Thematic analysis is a method that enables one to identify, analyse and report patterns in qualitative data (Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). From this process, the researcher could establish trends and patterns regarding words or terms used, meaning, and their relationship to the phenomenon (Stemler, 2015). The researcher spent time listening to the recordings and read through the transcripts. This enabled the researcher to become personally engrossed in the research data, getting a sense of

the information provided (Sutton & Austin, 2015). The researcher then quantified the data using categorising phrases, sentences and paragraphs (Flick, 2018). This data was then analysed further to identify subthemes, validate the data, and to filter any themes that may have not been relevant to the current study. The data was then visually organised into tables that are theme-based (Crowe, Inder, & Porter, 2015).

Strategies Employed to Ensure Quality Data

To ensure that the data used for this research meets the requirements in terms of trustworthiness and quality, the following strategies were undertaken:

Credibility

Credibility is concerned with ensuring that there is a degree of consistency between participants' views and the interpretations, as well as arguments made by the researcher (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). The researcher ensured credibility in this study through member checking, by providing research participants with their interview transcripts to validate that what had been recorded was a true reflection of their thoughts and not those of the researcher. Lastly, the researcher engaged in peer debriefing to further enhance the credibility of the study.

Transferability

Transferability refers to the extent in which the results of the study can be generalised or transferred to other contexts or settings (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). To enable transferability, the researcher provided a detailed description of the research phenomenon, its constructs, and its context. This will allow readers to contextualise the research to their own settings, providing researchers with data for future studies in other contexts.

Dependability

Dependability refers to the stability of the research data over time and over various settings of the study (Connelly, 2016). Its aim is to establish the extent to which the study is repeatable and consistent with the data collected (Ponelis, 2015). The researcher provided a detailed research report that informed the reader of the research methods utilised, as well as why these methods were chosen above other methods. The researcher also kept an audit trail of research processes, experiences and activities that will be made available to examiners should the need arise.

Confirmability

Confirmability is concerned with the degree of confidence with which the research findings of the study are based on participants' narrative, and not the potential biases of the researcher (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Its purpose is to ensure that the research findings are shaped by participants, as opposed to the researcher (Gunawan, 2015). The researcher kept records of detailed notes regarding the decisions and analyses made throughout the research process. These included aspects such as topics that are unique to the study, thoughts around the coding process, and the rationale used to group data. Further, reflections of any ethical issues or dilemmas that may have occurred were included.

Reporting

A qualitative writing style was used when reporting on the findings of this research study. The results were presented in the form of a descriptive essay. The questions addressed during the semi-structured interviews served as guidelines for establishing the main themes from the participants' responses. Subthemes were identified and explained further using participant responses.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval for this research study was obtained from the North-West University's Economic and Management Sciences Research Committee (EMS-REC) and the researcher was provided with an ethics number (NWU-00748-19-A4). Critical ethical aspects taken into consideration were obtaining informed consent and ensuring that participants were not coerced into taking part in the research, as the process was voluntary. The researcher further ensured that all data collected was managed confidentially; no identifying information was used. All participants were provided with a document containing the details of the research study, including ethical aspects. This letter included information related to the study, and based on the information provided, participants could sign the letter based on informed consent. Prior to signing the document and conducting the interviews, participants were given the opportunity to ask questions about the study. They were also informed that they could withdraw from the process at any point, and their information would be excluded from the final findings.

Results

The findings of this study are categorised into five sections, based on the research objectives. Firstly, an overview of the way in which millennials described the 4th Industrial Revolution is presented. Secondly, themes relating to the impact the 4th Industrial Revolution has had on millennials are reported. Thirdly, opportunities are highlighted that millennials have been presented with as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution. Fourthly, challenges that millennials have encountered as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution are revealed. Lastly, millennials convey their thoughts on what needs to be in place in order to align to the 4th Industrial Revolution. The findings are indicated as follows and will be depicted in Table 2. The reader should note that participant responses have been recorded verbatim and have not been subjected to language editing.

The way in which millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution

Theme 1: The introduction of new technologies

Eight participants described the 4th Industrial Revolution as a change and transition in technology. They associated this era with the introduction of new technological concepts, such as artificial intelligence, automation, biotechnology and robotics. This is illustrated in the words of participant 10 who stated that: *"The 4th Industrial Revolution as I understand means AI and robotics. So, things are becoming a lot more autonomous"* (Participant 10, male), while another participant mentioned that: *"We have now moved to an age where artificial intelligence is not only a possibility, but its real and its here"* (Participant 2, female).

Theme 2: A shift from the 3rd Industrial Revolution to the 4th Industrial Revolution

Four participants described this era as a transition from the 3rd Industrial Revolution to the 4th Industrial Revolution. They suggested that the 3rd Industrial Revolution was based on the principles of computerisation, whilst the 4th Industrial Revolution is focused on the digitisation of existing technologies. Participant 2 stated the following argument: "*My understanding of the 4th Industrial Revolution is that we have moved on from the 3rd of which focused more on technologies such as computers, to now a digital age*" (Participant 2, female). Participant 11 further elaborated on this by saying: "*…it is a shift and adaptation of new technologies, and a new way of how we do things…*" (Participant 11, male).

Theme 3: Access to more information

Four participants associated this era with the increase in and ease of access to information, stating that they associate it with the ability to acquire knowledge as and when they require it. Participant 2 said: "...is certainly around the ability to act and having information at my fingertips which gives me a competitive edge in comparison to the individual that don't necessarily have access to it" (Participant 2, female). Another participant further said: "...so the 4th Industrial Revolution for me is about providing access to information and making things more reachable" (Participant 7, male).

Theme 4: A change in jobs and skills required

Four participants described the 4th Industrial Revolution as a change in jobs and skills required as a result of technology. Participant 3 demonstrated this by saying that: "*It is going to be a massive change to the way in which we work and the types of jobs that we have...*" (Participant 3, male). Participant 2, along with another participant, further argued that this era has introduced a new set of skills and will continue to make more jobs redundant: "*This period can be detrimental, particularly to traditional jobs as they exist now...*" (Participant 2, female). Another participant echoed this statement by saying: "*Jobs are going to change, and this is going to make way for new type of skills*" (Participant 14, male).

Theme 5: The integration of machines and computers into work

One participant elaborated on how this era has enabled the integration of technology into work in such a way that humans are working a lot closer with robots than before. Participant 4 reflected on this theme as follows: "*I saw a clip and they were showing a robot conducting surgery. So, we are going to have to work closely with robots*" (Participant 4, female).

Theme 6: Relieves humans of tasks that are physically and administratively intense

Eight participants discussed this era in relation to how it is relieving humans of tasks that are physically and administratively intense. Participant 5 elaborated on this by saying: "...monotonous tasks that we are used to doing can be done in a more efficient way now" (Participant 5, male). Participant 11 concurred with this by saying: "Things you can see being done away with is the jobs or functions that are manually intensive and repetitive" (Participant 11, male).

Theme 7: Redundancy of jobs

Two participants associated this era with the redundancy of jobs and suggested that as this era progresses, jobs are going to be lost. Participant 8 expressed his concern by saying: "It's scary, because we are going to struggle in terms of finding job opportunities. Particularly, low level or entry level type of jobs that a computer can do" (Participant 8, male). Participant 12 also mentioned that: "It is replacing people with technology where it's possible to get things done faster and efficiently" (Participant 12, female).

Theme 8: The creation of efficiencies

One participant described this era in relation to the efficiencies that it presents, saying: "*I* think the concept behind the 4th Industrial Revolution is to make things more efficient and to, in a way, grow the potential of human beings" (Participant 15, male).

The impact of the 4th Industrial Revolution on millennials

Theme 1: The automation of certain functions

Four participants suggested that the impact of the 4th Industrial Revolution is that certain functions are now automated. These participants mentioned that parts of their work that they used to do are now automated and being run on intelligent computer systems. Participant 12 supported this view by saying: "*Certain parts of my job are now being done by a computer. I was introduced to automation and I loved it. It made things easier for me*" (Participant 12, female). This was further supported by Participant 1 who mentioned: "*Changes that have taken place in terms of how the organisation is automating our systems and process*" (Participant 1, female).

Theme 2: The introduction of tools that make work more efficient

Three participants have seen the introduction of intelligent systems and tools in their work and this has made them more efficient. Participant 5 mentioned how his job has evolved by saying that: "...my job now involves the use of AI, data analytics and data orchestration. Now my function as a traditional engineer has changed" (Participant 5, male).

Theme 3: A reduction in administrative work

Four participants suggest that new technologies have reduced mundane and administrative work; they can now create value in other aspects. A participant elaborated on this by saying that: *"I believe that some parts of what I currently do are no longer going to be valid.*

Specifically, the admin function with the advancement of these online and cloud-based tools" (Participant 3, male). Participant 8 provided further evidence by saying: "...business has decided to combine the service delivery and service management function because technology has taken care of the administrative or operational function" (Participant 8, male).

Theme 4: Increased access to information

For five participants, the impact is that they can now source information a lot easier than they would have before. They can also use various sources and platforms to acquire the skills and knowledge they need. This was supported by Participant 2's statement: *"I have greater access to information, and so I learn a lot more than I would have before. There is a lot more content available to me"* (Participant 2, female). Another participant further stated that: *"I can acquire skills a lot easier than before"* (Participant 11, male).

Theme 5: The transformation of skills

Three participants suggested that the impact of this era is in terms of the transformation of skills, as the demand for a new set of skills increases with time. Participant 3 elaborated: "*I can already see that I am required to have a multitude of skills. So, I can no longer rely on one type of skill*" (Participant 3, male), with participant 10 attributing his ability to acquire new skills to working in an information technology company by saying: "*Working for an IT company gives me an advantage to some extent. So, I have the advantage of acquiring new skills earlier than most*" (Participant 10, male).

Theme 6: The redundancy of jobs

Two participants mentioned that the impact of this era for them is the redundancy of certain jobs, and the introduction of new job functions. Both participants went through a period where their roles were made redundant and Participant 6 said: "When I started my career, I was in sales operations and a few months later my role was made redundant. I then transitioned into digital marketing" (Participant 6, female).

Theme 7: Very little impact

Four participants have seen very little impact by the 4th Industrial Revolution. From these participants, two suggested that this is due to the nature of their work: "I would say little impact because in the area that I am in a lot of people engagement is still required"

(Participant 1, female). Participant 2 agreed with this perspective: "It hasn't had a direct impact on me, I think that I have been protected from it simply because of the line of work that I am in. However, I do believe that it soon will" (Participant 2, female).

Opportunities available to millennials in the 4th Industrial Revolution

Theme 1: Focus driven

Three participants believe that the opportunity that the 4th Industrial Revolution provides is focus. These participants believe that this era will reduce the amount of time spent on unnecessary tasks, providing focus to aspects that create value. Participant 1 discussed this further by saying: *"It will make me a better and competent practitioner within my current role, because it will allow me to focus on the things that I should focus on"* (Participant 1, female). Participant 8 also said: *"Clients want more interaction, so I think technology will allow me to focus on that. Because that is what my role should be after all"* (Participant 8, male).

Theme 2: Access to information

Two participants feel that they now have greater access to information and they can acquire this information through various mediums. Participant 2 elaborated: "*I'm a researcher by nature, so collecting information is my thing, and the ability to collect it at a faster and more effective rate is quite appealing to me. And I think that technology will provide that*" (Participant 2, female), while Participant 4 mentioned the different mediums that they have access to: "*I can now find videos on YouTube to learn coding; you can literally study your life from YouTube, and I feel like with 4IR it will enable people who can't go to university get the skills required for them to get upskilled*" (Participant 4, female).

Theme 3: The opportunity for career growth

Four participants indicated that the 4th Industrial Revolution has presented them with career growth and the opportunity to redefine their skills. Participant 3 mentioned that: "*I could transition into a role that is fit for the future of the organisation*" (Participant 3, male). Participant 15 concurred: "*It has allowed me to redefine my career and to start thinking of the future skills that I need to acquire*" (Participant 15, male).

Theme 4: The opportunity to optimise on intelligent tools and systems

Four participants argued that this era has provided them with the opportunity of making use of intelligent tools and systems. Participant 6 contextualised this to her role and said: "*I think the tools that are available to us are also going to help us become better at digital marketing*" (Participant 6, female). Participant 11 also mentioned that: "*The systems and tools that we interact with will no longer require a lot of human intervention*" (Participant 11, male).

Challenges that millennials have experienced as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution Theme 1: The redundancy of jobs

Although they have not been directly impacted, six participants suggested that the challenge the 4th Industrial Revolution is going to present is an increase in the redundancy of jobs. Therefore, they feel that they are a lot more replaceable now; more than they would have in the preceding era. Participant 2 highlighted this as a concern: "*I think as it relates to my work specifically, it's more around a potential threat of being replaced by a robot or AI. I'm a lot more replaceable than I was before*" (Participant 2, female). Participant 13 further stated that: "*I am scared that my job could be redundant. Particularly with the skills that I have*" (Participant 13, female).

Theme 2: The challenge in identifying the necessary skills

Four participants suggested that the 4th Industrial Revolution has increased the amount of information that they have access to. However, they find it difficult to identify the skills and information relevant to them due to the exponential growth of information. This was supported by Participant 10: *"We have so much access to so much information, so I would say the biggest challenge is navigating through all this data and establishing what is relevant to you"* (Participant 10, male). Participant 6 further mentioned that: *"There is a lot of noise at the moment, and a lot of information being thrown at us. So, it is very difficult to understand what risks we should be taking now"* (Participant 6, female).

Theme 3: Inequality between people

One participant felt that this era is going to create further inequality as those that have access are going to benefit further. Participant 4 elaborated on this by saying: "*It is going to create inequality where the city of Johannesburg for example is talking about having smart cities, but nobody is talking about having smart townships*" (Participant 4, female).

Theme 4: No challenges

Three participants feel that they have not experienced any challenges. One participant even further elaborated on this: "*I don't think it will pose any challenge, I think it's going to create more opportunities if anything, particularly within the company that I work in*" (Participant 14, male). Another participant elaborated on this by saying: "*Not really, not if you define a challenge as a change in thinking. I think that 4IR will require a change in thinking*" (Participant 5, male).

Ways in which millennials can align to the 4th Industrial Revolution

Theme 1: Skills development and relevance

Thirteen participants believe that they need to educate themselves about this phenomenon and transform their skills to remain relevant in this era. Participant 5 mentioned that: "One has to ensure that they have the relevant skills. But not just relevancy for now. One must start thinking about the future as well" (Participant 5, male). Participants 7 and 8 agreed with this view: "I think people need to have the right skills and stay on top of what is happening" (Participant 7, male); and "The first thought that comes to me is study and coupled with studying you need to be exposed" (Participant 8, male).

Theme 2: A change in mind set

Two participants suggest that the 4th Industrial Revolution will require a change in mind set where people no longer think of work in the traditional concept. This was elaborated on by Participant 2 who mentioned that: "It's more a change of mind set. From being solution driven and having a growth mind set. So often at times we look at problems, but that's as far as we actually go" (Participant 2, female). Participant 9 supported this: "I think what people need to do is start thinking about things in a different way. They need to get away from thinking that they are going to have a job for life or be employed by someone" (Participant 9, male).

Theme 3: Develop entrepreneurial skills

Two other participants suggested that individuals will need entrepreneurial skills and start thinking about how they can create value in society, whilst getting compensated for it. Participant 2 mentioned that: *"We definitely need to be more entrepreneurial, because I don't see the regular 9 to 5 job lasting"* (Participant 2, female). Participant 9 elaborated by saying:

"...and start thinking about how I as an individual create value in society and how do I get compensated for it" (Participant 9, male).

Ways in which organisations can support millennials in this era

Millennials were further asked if they thought there was anything organisations could do to support them in aligning to the 4th Industrial Revolution. The following themes occurred when they elaborated on this aspect.

Theme 1: Enabling employees to be more self-sufficient

Two participants suggested that organisations need to empower employees to be more selfsufficient and autonomous. This was elaborated on by Participant 2 who mentioned that: "*If companies ought to do anything, then they need to help employees or empower employees to be a lot more self-sufficient*" (Participant 2, female), while another participant approached this aspect from a knowledge-perspective saying that: "Content needs to be digitised to allow for people to consume up to date information as and when required" (Participant 11, male).

Theme 2: Leaders need to have a clear understanding of future roles

Four participants argued that organisations need to have a clear understanding of how the 4th Industrial Revolution impacts the way in which they operate, and the effect that this has on the various job roles. Participant 9 said: "...and once they have figured out what the strategy is around AI and 4IR in general, then they need to identify the new roles that are going to be required, and make sure that they make appropriate training available to help people transform their skills to start the transition into the new era" (Participant 9, male). Participant 15 echoed this and said that: "So, to help individuals they need to start thinking about what the new roles are going to look like and start redesigning jobs" (Participant 15, male).

Theme 3: Transparency from leaders

Two participants feel that leaders of organisations need to be more transparent about their strategic imperatives where the 4th Industrial Revolution is concerned, and how this impacts their employees. Participant 4 elaborated on this by saying: "If AI and robotics is where the organisation is going, then that is what the company must communicate to its people so that they understand. Transparency has to be created so that people know how to adjust and make career decisions accordingly" (Participant 5, male).

Theme 4: Leaders need to develop employees

Four participants suggested that organisations need to establish a culture of learning and develop their employees on an ongoing basis. Participants expanded on this by saying: "Companies need to create a culture of lifelong learning. So, they need to make it easier accessible for employees to acquire skills" (Participant 5, male). Participant 13 said: "Organisations should look at the skills that they currently have and enhance the skills of the people you have in the organisation. Rather than outsourcing" (Participant 13, female).

Theme 5: Future-orientated leaders

Two other participants felt that leaders need to be future orientated in order to better equip employees for the changes to come. Participant 6 expressed her view by saying: "We need to have leaders that are future thinking. If there is a change coming and want to adopt a specific type of technology, then they should be feeding employees information that will make you ready for what is to come" (Participant 6, female).

To deliver the findings in a table, the themes have been classified based on the research questions utilised to gather data. Although there are overlaps to some degree, subthemes have also been identified to group the themes from the interviews.

Tabl	e	2

Describing Introduction of "With the 4th Industrial Revolution,	we speak of
the 4th new technology in terms of AI and automatic	on. I would also
Industrial technologies say it's the introduction of intelligent co	omputing where
Revolution computers can now make decision and understand patterns" (Participant 1, femal "We have now moved to an age intelligence is not only a possibility, but here" (Participant 2, female). "Things that weren't automated are now b having robots at Mac Donald's taking also having robots assisting you at a shopping" (Participant 4, female). "I do know that it means to change. revolution of the digital world. Compa towards AI and automation in terms of experiences better" (Participant 6, female "It is changing the way in which we	l gather data to le). where artificial t its real and its being automated, your order, and mall if you go In terms of the mies are moving making people's). e live our lives

Themes of the Research Study

	lot of automation is coming in" (Participant 7, male). "So 4IR talks to the machine age if I can call it that. It talks to the world of automation. So, it speaks to the reliance of machines to help create value for society" (Participant 9, male). "The 4th Industrial Revolution as I understand means AI and robotics. So, things are becoming a lot more autonomous" (Participant 10, male). "It's around biotechnology, automation, and AI. From what I understand personally, it is related to the way we use technology and create a better world using it" (Participant 14, female).
A shift from the 3rd to the 4th Industrial Revolution	"We have moved on from the 3rd of which focused more on technologies such as computers, to now a digital age" (Participant 2, female). "My understanding of it is the fact that it is a new phase in the way that things are done compared to the 3rd Industrial Revolution" (Participant 3, male). "It is the next economic era in the sense that humans have gone through multiple phases from an economic perspective. There's been a couple of factors that have created a shift" (Participant 8, male). "It is a shift and adaptation of new technologies, and a new way of how we do things" (Participant 11, male).
Access to information	"For me it is certainly around the ability to act and having information at my fingertips which gives me a competitive edge in comparison to the individual that don't necessarily have access to it" (Participant 2, female). "The 4th Industrial Revolution is providing access and making things more reachable" (Participant 7, male). "The concept of knowledge workers is going to be something that is going to be pervasive" (Participant 9, male). "Some of the stuff that I learned back then are no longer relevant and you are seeing new types of skills emerge" (Participant 11, male).
A change in jobs and skills required	"It can be detrimental, particularly to traditional jobs as they exist now, and can create redundancies" (Participant 2, female). "It is going to be a massive change to the way in which we work and the types of jobs that we have" (Participant 3, male). "The types of skills that we need in order to advance, or at least to survive are going to change" (Participant 3, male). "New jobs will be introduced. So, there's more opportunities for coders and programmers" (Participant 12, female). "Jobs are going to change, and this is going to make way

		for new type of skills" (Participant 14, male).
	Integrating machines and computers into work	"I saw a clip where a robot was conducting surgery. And if you think about public hospital and how they are so overloaded with people where doctors and nurses don't have the capacity. So, we are going to have to work closely with robots" (Participant 4, female).
	Relieve humans of tasks that are physically or administratively intense	"Going down the automation route means getting rid of mundane and administrative tasks" (Participant 4, female). "I wouldn't say it starts to make people redundant, but monotonous tasks that we are used to doing can be done in a more efficient way now" (Participant 5, male). "It is enabling human beings to do more through technology. It's freeing up time for us to do literally anything we want. We just need to educate ourselves" (Participant 8, male). "Less human intervention will be required in some respects" (Participant 10, male). "Things you can see being done away with is the functions that are manually intensive and repetitive. Computers can do these far better" (Participant 11, male). "So basically, it is about finding ways to automate things that would normally require a person to perform" (Participant 12, female).
	Redundancy of jobs	"It's scary, because we are going to struggle in terms of finding job opportunities. Particularly, low level or entry level type of jobs that a computer can do. These jobs are falling away" (Participant 8, male). "It is replacing people with technology where possible to get things done faster and efficiently" (Participant 12, female).
	The creation of efficiencies	"I think the concept behind the 4IR is to make things more efficient and to, in a way, grow the potential of human beings" (Participant 15, male).
The impact of the 4th Industrial Revolution	Certain functions being automated	"Changes that have taken place in terms of how the organisation is automating our systems and process" (Participant 1, female). "Certain parts of my job are now being done by a computer. I was introduced to automation and I loved it. It made things easier for me" (Participant 12, female). "We used to see slow transitions and then all of a sudden you are seeing far faster transition towards automation and doing things yourself" (Participant 13, male). "I have seen a strong integration of automation into what I do" (Participant 15, male).
	Very little impact	"I would say little impact because in the area that I am in a lot of people engagement is still required" (Participant 1, female). "It hasn't had a direct impact on me, I think that I have

	been protected from it simply because of the line of work that I am in. However, I do believe that it soon will" (Participant 2, female). "It has not had a great impact yet" (Participant 4, female). "I am fortunate that it has not had a negative impact on me" (Participant 14, male).
A reduction in mundane and administrative tasks	"We used to use a lot of spreadsheets, and it was a very manual process. Now at a company level we can input data and get results from that. And get a better picture of what is happening on the ground. And that's all run on an application" (Participant 2, female). "I believe that some parts of what I currently do are no longer going to be valid. Specifically, the admin function with the advancement of these online and cloud-based tools" (Participant 3, male). "The tools that I now use to perform my job have changed" (Participant 4, female). "If we look at my current role, it used to be split into two different functions. However, business has decided to combine the service delivery and service management function because technology has taken care of the administrative or operational function" (Participant 8, male).
Introduction of tools that make work more efficient	"The tools that I now use to perform my job have changed" (Participant 4, female). "My job now involves the use of AI, data analytics and data orchestration. Now my function as a traditional engineer has changed" (Participant 5, male). "I have been in my current company for 12 years now; we have recently adopted some new technologies and retiring the old ones" (Participant 7, male).
Increased access to information	"I have greater access to information, and so I learn a lot more than I would have before. There is a lot more content available to me" (Participant 2, female). "It is becoming easier to get stuff that has always been out of reach. Or difficult to get hold of. So, the 4th Industrial Revolution is providing access and making things more reachable" (Participant 7, male). "The concept of knowledge workers is going to be something that is going to be pervasive" (Participant 9, male). "Some of the stuff that I learned back then is no longer relevant and you are seeing new types of skills emerge. Also, I can acquire skills a lot easier than before" (Participant 11, male). "Working for an IT company puts me in a better position when it comes to understanding and grasping technological concepts and information" (Participant, 14, male).
Transformation	"I can already see that I am required to have a multitude

	of skills	of skills. So, I can no longer rely on one type of skill" (Participant 3, male). "Working for an IT company gives me an advantage to some extent. So, I have the advantage of acquiring new skills earlier than most" (Participant 10, male). "Firstly, the skills that I am required to learn have changed. So, I have had to acquire new skills" (Participant 11, male).
	Job redundancy	"When I started my career, I was in sales operations and a few months later my role was made redundant. I then transitioned into digital marketing" (Participant 6, female). "My previous role was at risk; however, I do think the 4th Industrial Revolution introduces a lot of exciting opportunities" (Participant 9, male).
Opportunities presented by the 4th Industrial Revolution	Provides focus	"It will make me a better and competent practitioner within my current role, because it will allow me to focus on the things that I should focus on" (Participant 1, female). "A big part of product management is about understanding user behaviour and user patterns in terms of how they find value in the products that they use. A lot of this information is found in data, which means it would have to be analysed and patterns would need to be found. So, the tech that the 4IR has introduced will further aid the product function" (Participant 5, male). "Clients want more interaction, so I think technology will allow me to free up time to focus on that. Because that is what my role should be after all" (Participant 8, male).
	Access to information	"I'm a researcher by nature, so collecting information is my thing, and the ability to collect it at a faster and more effective rate is quite appealing to me. And I think that technology will provide that" (Participant 2, female). "I can now find videos on YouTube to learn coding; you can literally study your life from YouTube, and I feel like with 4IR it will enable people who can't go to university get the skills required for them to get upskilled" (Participant 4, female).
	Career growth opportunities	"The fact that I am quite agile, and because of my agility it has allowed me a lot more from a career growth perspective. So, I could transition into a role that is fit for the future of the organisation" (Participant 3, male). "From a skills perspective, we can now sell skills to different parts of the world" (Participant 9, male). "It has allowed me to relook my career. At age 32, I have recently gone back to school" (Participant 10, male). "With me being in the risk department, and with technology increasing risk in a lot of aspects, my job is going to become even more relevant" (Participant 12, female).

		"It has allowed me to redefine my career and to start thinking of the future skills that I need to acquire" (Participant 15, male).
	Better systems and tools	"I think the tools that are available to us are also going to help us become better at digital marketing" (Participant 6, female). "I think my job will change eventually, where there is less field work and we can access devices remotely" (Participant 7, male). "The systems and tools that we interact with, we no longer require a lot of human intervention" (Participant 11, male). "People buy from people, so the introduction of AI systems will allow me to focus on my role. Which is driving sales" (Participant 14, male).
Challenges presented by the 4th Industrial Revolution	Job redundancy	"I do think there will be redundancies in some respects because of technology" (Participant 1, female). "I think as it relates to my work specifically, it's more around a potential threat of being replaced by a robot or AI. I'm a lot more replaceable than I was before" (Participant 2, female). "The potential of increased unemployment, so as manufacturing companies introduce machinery, what happens to the 500 people that need to be retrenched?" (Participant 4, female). "I think there will be redundancies. I think that less of us will be required in certain functions" (Participant 8, male). "I don't think that my job will be redundant at this point, I do, however, think that if people do menial tasks or repetitive tasks, then those tasks will eventually be outsourced to a machine (Participant 9, male). "So, what I am seeing is departments scaling down in terms of the labour force. So fewer people doing the current tasks that still require human beings" (Participant 11, male). "I am scared that my job could be redundant. Particularly with the skills that I have" (Participant 13, female).
	Identifying the knowledge and skills required	"There is just so much information out there that it sometimes becomes quite difficult to identify what one needs to be upskilled in" (Participant 3, male). "There is a lot of noise at the moment, and a lot of information being thrown at us. So, it is very difficult to understand what risks we should be taking now" (Participant 6, female). "We have so much access to so much information, so I would say the biggest challenge is navigating through all this data and establishing what is relevant to you" (Participant 10, male). "Trying to constantly stay abreast with all the skills

		changing is quite a challenge" (Participant 15, male).
	Inequality between people	"It is going to create inequality where the city of Johannesburg, for example, is talking about having smart cities, but nobody is talking about having smart townships" (Participant 4, female).
	No challenges	"Not really, not if you define a challenge as a change in thinking. I think that 4IR will require a change in thinking" (Participant 5, male). "I don't see any career-related challenges. I think I will have to learn new laws, deal with new governance challenges" (Participant 12, female). "I don't think it will pose any challenge, I think it's going to create more opportunities if anything, particularly within the company that I work in" (Participant 14, male).
Aligning to the 4th Industrial Revolution	Skills development and relevance	 "Equip people with the right level of skill for what is going to be required in that 4th Industrial Revolution" (Participant 1, female). "They need to build skills. The skills that I think are super important are good communication skills, high EQ, some computer-based skills - programming being one of them" (Participant 3, male). "Knowledge, understanding and research. People need to educate themselves further about the 4th Industrial Revolution" (Participant 4, female). "One has to ensure that they have the relevant skills. But not just relevancy for now. One must start thinking about the future as well" (Participant 5, male). "But if I educate myself and I actually understand what's going to be happening and why it's going to be happening? (Participant 7, male). "I think people need to have the right skills and stay on top of what is happening" (Participant 7, male). "They have to evolve their skill sets. So, they need to be well versed in their industries and how technology impacts them" (Participant 10, male). "I would say learning, adapting, embracing new technologies That's the only way that one is going to survive" (Participant 12, female). "Skill set is a big focus in terms of whether you are relevant or not. So, one needs to focus on skills that are in high demand" (Participant 13, female).

		that is digitally based. Also understanding what digitisation means as well as where it is going" (Participant 14, male). "To establish what the trends are and how they are going to impact their career. And redefine their skills accordingly" (Participant 15, male).
	Change in mind set	"It's more a change of mind set. From being solution driven and having a growth mind set. So often at times we look at problems, but that's as far as we actually go" (Participant 2, female). "I think what people need to do is start thinking about things in a different way. They need to get away from thinking that they are going to have a job for life or be employed by someone" (Participant 9, male).
	Entrepreneurial skills	"We definitely need to be more entrepreneurial, because I don't see the regular 9 to 5 job lasting" (Participant 2, female). "And start thinking about how I, as an individual, create value in society and how do I get compensated for it" (Participant 9, male).
How organisations need to support employees	Enable employees to be self-sufficient	"If companies ought to do anything, then they need to help employees or empower employees to be a lot more self-sufficient. They need to teach them to be more entrepreneurial and to actually ready themselves for the possibility of their jobs not existing anymore" (Participant 2, female). "Content needs to be digitised to allow for people to consume up to date information as and when required" (Participant 11, male).
	Clear understanding of future roles	"They need to have a very clear understanding of what various jobs and roles require - particularly ones that they are planning for" (Participant 3, male). "Leaders need to take employees on journey from the onset by sharing knowledge and helping employees with the skills to anticipate what is to come" (Participant 4, female). "And once they have figured out what the strategy is around AI and 4IR, in general, then they need to identify the new roles that are going the be required, and make sure that they make appropriate training available to help people transform their skills to start the transition into the new era" (Participant 9, male). "So, to help individuals, they need to start thinking about what the new roles are going to look like and start redesigning jobs" (Participant 15, male).
	Transparency	"Leaders need to be transparent about the changes that the 4IR will present and how these are part of the long- term business strategy" (Participant 4, female). "If AI and robotics is where the organisation is going then that is what the company must communicate to its

	pe cre ca	ople so that they understand. Transparency has to be eated so that people know how to adjust and make reer decisions accordingly" (Participant 5, male).
Devel	lop "C oyees So to "I en sp ma "A ma "A ma "A ma ma "C cu ha (P	Companies need to create a culture of lifelong learning. b, they need to make it easier accessible for employees acquire skills" (Participant 5, male). would say that businesses need to drive their apployees into specialisation. Once people acquire and ecialise in specific skills, then they become subject atter experts in a specific area" (Participant 8, male). As a business, we need to develop content and a echanism that speaks to millennials" (Participant 10, ale). Organisations should look at the skills that they rrently have and enhance the skills of the people you ve in the organisation. Rather than outsourcing" articipant 13, female).
Futur orient leader	e- "V rated is rs teo int co "N tha for	Ve need to have leaders that are future thinking. If there a change coming and want to adopt a specific type of chnology, then they should be feeding employees formation that will make you ready for what is to me" (Participant 6, female). Motivate employees and create performance objectives at are aligned to the technologies introduced, as well as r the future" (Participant 7, male).

Discussion

The general objective of this study was to explore millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company. The findings are discussed and linked to the specific objectives of this study.

The *first objective* was to establish the way in which millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution. The way in which a fair number of participants in this study described the 4th Industrial Revolution is consistent with Schwab's (2018) view that argues that the 4th Industrial Revolution came about as a result of the foundation laid by the 3rd Industrial Revolution, and that it is a new era rather than a continuation due to its pervasive nature. The commonality that this era shares with the preceding one is the invention of transformative technologies that change society on a fundamental and economic scale (Bartodziej, 2017). However, a key differentiator is that, unlike the 3rd Industrial Revolution, the 4th Industrial Revolution is reshaping human existence through technologies that are merging the physical, digital and biological spheres, fostering a closer relationship between humans and machines (Finley-Moise, 2019).

A significant number of participants described this era using technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI), robotics, biotechnology and automation, with an emphasis on how these capabilities enable computers to gather large amounts of data, collect data patterns, and make decisions autonomously. Mahmood and Hussin (2018) agree with this view and suggests that technologies of this nature have simplified the way in which certain functions are performed through autonomous and intelligent computing, allowing machines to learn from historical data to identify patterns, as well as optimise on algorithms to produce desired results (Khan, 2018). Roblek et al. (2016) suggest that it is these concepts and capabilities that make this era unique, as they bring humans and machines closer. A small number of participants agreed with this perspective and discussed the nature of the 4th Industrial Revolution in relation to how machines and computers are now going to be further integrated into work compared to before. Thus, increasing the integration of technologies into business processes as machines become self-sustaining and interconnected (Weinberger, 2018), enabling organisations to optimise on innovations that interact with humans and increase efficiencies in various aspects of the business (Dombrowski & Wagner, 2014).

A fair number of participants referred to the 4th Industrial Revolution as an era that encompasses technologies that relieve humans of monotonous, administrative and mundane tasks. This is because repetitive, and administrative functions can be automated and digitised so that humans can create value in another aspect of work (Morrar et al., 2017). For a small number of these millennials, this era entails a change in jobs and skills, more so the redundancy of jobs that currently exist. However, for a significant number of these participants, it is perceived that this era will increase career opportunities made available to them. The 4th Industrial Revolution is still in its early stages and researchers have contrasting views where work is concerned (Bonciu, 2017). Schwab (2018) suggests that literature in this regard is diluted between the optimists who foresee limitless career opportunities and the pessimists who anticipate a mass dislocation of jobs. The optimistic prediction suggests that the coming few years will see millions of new jobs being created (Butler-Adam, 2018); whilst the pessimistic view suggests that technology will dislocate more jobs than it will create (Butler-Adam, 2018). Research conducted by McKinsey predicts a dislocation of 800 million jobs across 42 countries (Menon, 2019). However, what remains consistent across the various views is that this era is going to transform the skills and labour market, as all industries fundamentally evolve and embrace new technologies (Schwab, 2018).

The *second objective* of this study was to determine how the 4th Industrial Revolution has impacted millennials. A small number of millennials have seen a significant change in the tools and systems they use to perform work. Research indicates that 85% of organisations intend to adopt a big data strategy, whilst 58% anticipate that they will optimise on technologies such as artificial intelligence, as well as augmented and virtual reality (Schwab, 2018). Therefore, the number of hours that systems and machines will work is likely to increase, compared to the number of hours that will be worked by humans in the coming years (Schwab, 2018). This is consistent with the view of some of the participants that mentioned that systems and processes in their jobs are now automated, allowing them to reduce the levels of mundane and administrative activities that they are required to routinely perform. Buzza (2017) agrees that this new generation of automated systems is gradually reducing the amount of operational and administrative work that is performed, enabling individuals to re-think their careers and create value in other aspects (Carvalho et al., 2018). While this is the direction that most organisations are taking, Weinberger (2018) argues that these technologies are still in their infancy and heavily dependent on human oversight.

Therefore, it will take years before companies realise the true value of autonomous and selfoptimising systems (Weinberger, 2018).

A significant number of participants in the study also indicated that the 4th Industrial Revolution has increased their access to information and knowledge. As this era progresses, millennials are required to continuously acquire new skills as new job roles emerge (Singh, Sarkar, & Bahl, 2018). A significant number of the millennials interviewed suggest that this era has made this possible and has provided them with the opportunity to acquire new skills through different sources and platforms. The 4th Industrial Revolution is powered by exponential amounts of data, as well as intertwined chains of networks that create large amounts of information (Paprocki, 2019); therefore, providing millennials with access to various sources of knowledge and expertise (Hirschi, 2018). One participant even suggested that working for an IT company has given them an advantage, because organisations of this nature introduce and adopt technological advancements earlier than most organisations. In a study conducted by Deloitte (2017), it was found that the 4th Industrial Revolution is increasingly demanding more knowledge and experience within the technical domains. Therefore, the demand for digital skills and expertise in big data and analytics, which reside in the information technology industry, are going to increase (Petrillo, Felice, Cioffi, & Zomparelli, 2018).

A small number of participants described the impact of this era as negative due to their roles being made redundant. Senvar & Akkartal (2018) suggest that the 4th Industrial Revolution is impacting every aspect of work, making jobs that are vulnerable to automation redundant. In contrast, a fair number of participants had a different perspective in this regard and indicated that the 4th Industrial Revolution has had very little impact on their work, and this is due to the amount of human interaction that is involved in what they do. Davis (2016) argues that although we are in the early stages of the 4th Industrial Revolution, exposure to this era is not evenly distributed. Therefore, for some people, the impact of the technologies introduced has not been felt as yet (Schwab, 2018). However, from this group of participants that have not been impacted, one did mention that although they have not felt the change, they do foresee a significant impact as digitisation becomes prevalent.

The *third objective* of this study was to establish the types of opportunities that millennials have been presented with as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution. The introduction of this

era has promised significant social and economic opportunities for the world at large (Manda & Ben Dhaou, 2019). Organisations are becoming 'smarter' and more efficient through the systems and tools they employ (Morrar et al., 2017). For a few of the participants' interviewed, this has allowed them to make use of systems and tools that create efficiency in the work they need to perform. Bonciu (2017) further suggests that as the 4th Industrial Revolution progresses, there are going to be significant advancements in technologies such as AI, robotics and IoT (Bonciu, 2017). For a small number of participants, this is going to allow them to create focus, and time for aspects of work that they are hired to do. Therefore, allowing them to create value in engaging with others, whilst technology takes care of aspects such as analysing data and creating patterns from it. This is because digital technologies introduced by the 4th Industrial Revolution are intended to relieve humans from automatable tasks, enabling them to focus on more complex business issues (Daemmrich, 2017). It is anticipated that this kind of focus will be achieved through enduring human skills such as creativity, emotional intelligence and supervision, coupled with technical capabilities and competencies that will support the technologies introduced (Deloitte, 2018).

For a small number of participants, the 4th Industrial Revolution has provided them with access to acquiring information at a faster and more efficient rate. They can also acquire skills through various channels, and consume information through platforms such as YouTube, as opposed to the traditional classroom approach. Penprase (2018) argues that 4th Industrial Revolution is in motion and as it progresses, it is going to require accelerated skilling and re-skilling, as the access to online and tech-enhanced learning material increases. Concepts such as micro-learning where individuals can acquire small chunks of information in a short space of time through mediums such as short videos, gamification and podcasts are increasingly becoming prevalent (Harve, 2019). Therefore, to optimise these platforms, millennials will need to shift their mindsets from acquiring specific credentials, to pursuing skills and capabilities that will enable lifelong learning (Hattingh, 2018).

A significant number of participants mentioned that they are now presented with a lot more career opportunities as organisations re-define the skills that they need. The digitisation and automation of work is fundamentally changing the nature of work (Hirschi, 2018). It is retiring certain occupations and introducing new jobs and principles where work is concerned (Bonciu, 2017). Smart machines and AI enabled systems are going to be further integrated, and millennials will need to understand where their skills fit in the value chain as technology

becomes further augmented into work (Selamat, Alias, Hikmi, Puteh, & Tapsi, 2017). One participant further argued that technology has created the opportunity for one to sell one's skills to anyone in the world, and location is no longer a barrier. This view is consistent with Hattingh (2018) who argued that the nature of work will result in significant changes where work will no longer be defined by working for one employer and location will no longer be a barrier. Therefore, millennials have to shift their mind sets to adapt to an environment where work is flexible, short-term and based on demand (Hattingh, 2018). One other participant felt that his role has already been aligned to the 4th Industrial Revolution, and if anything, it is going to become even more relevant and critical than before.

The *fourth objective* was to establish the kind of challenges that millennials have experienced as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution. Although they have not been presently impacted, a large number of the participants think that it is highly likely that their jobs will be made redundant in the foreseeable future. From these participants, a small number further argued that organisations are scaling down and their teams are going to become smaller as new technologies are adopted. Two participants went as far as saying that they fear they will not have work as a result of robots and AI taking over. As mentioned previously, researchers are on extreme ends where work is concerned. Whilst some indicate that many of the existing job roles are going to be made redundant, others anticipate an increase in the creation of new types of jobs (Hirschi, 2018). Therefore, there is not a clear consensus as to whether this era will create more job opportunities versus the number of jobs it will make redundant. However, what is consistent across both views is that human capability is not going to be completely obsolete; instead, the concept of work is going to transform and in effect so will the prerequisites of employment (Gwata, 2019).

Another challenge that was identified was the ability to identify the skills required for the future. As organisations transition towards digitisation, some of the challenges that they will experience will include skills mismatch and the redundancy of skills due to the changing nature of work (Manda & Ben Dhaou, 2019). A fair number of millennials argued that although technology has allowed them greater access to information, there is so much information that one needs to navigate through, that it has become challenging to identify the skills relevant to them. New knowledge is created at an exponential rate and contributing towards the 'half-life' of knowledge and skills (Hattingh, 2018). Therefore, in as much as new knowledge and information can be made instantly available, it can now become obsolete
at an equally rapid pace (Hirschi, 2018), making it highly likely for millennials to be overwhelmed by the information overload and challenging to sift through what is relevant to them (Hattingh, 2018).

One participant felt that the 4th Industrial Revolution is creating further inequalities, and that privileged individuals are going to benefit even further; whilst disadvantaged people who do not have access to technology might not reap the benefits this era provides. Xu et al. (2018) agree that this era is yielding further inequality, as it displaces entry level or operational work, creating more opportunities for those with scarce skills. Von Reiche (2019) concurs and suggests that digitisation is the reason for inequality, also the segregation between lower skilled workers, and those that are skilled and considered to be benefactors of the 4th Industrial Revolution. A small number of the participants had a contrasting view and felt that this era has not created any challenges; instead, they feel it ultimately requires new skills and a new way of thinking to remain relevant. As such, they are anticipating more opportunities presented than challenges.

The *final objective* of this study was to establish what millennials think is required to align themselves to the 4th Industrial Revolution. From the participants interviewed, a large number suggested that the best way to align themselves to the 4th Industrial Revolution was to expose themselves further to the phenomenon. They felt that it is imperative to understand what it means and how their career paths fit into it. It was further elaborated that they would need to create relevancy for now, as well as relevancy for the future. Therefore, they need to redefine their skills on an ongoing basis as the concept of work evolves. This is because the acceleration of innovation and the disruption of pervasive technologies is going to require a different approach to thinking (Hattingh, 2018). Two participants agreed with this notion and mentioned that the 4th Industrial Revolution requires a change in mind set. These participants reckoned that they will have the same job for life. Accordingly, Hagel, Schwartz, and Bersin (2017) suggest that individuals need to be constantly thinking of how they can reinvent and redefine the skills they have.

One participant argued that millennials must focus on skills that are 'digitally' focused, as these are highly sought after. Hattingh (2018) agrees in this regard and suggests that it is not just technology that improves efficiency, but it is also the technical competence behind the technology that is critical in ensuring that it performs as it should. A small number of participants also mentioned that millennials need to acquire entrepreneurial skills and start thinking of their skills as a 'business', as they will be required to sell their skills to the market whilst creating value in society and getting compensated for it. Gwata (2019) agrees that employees need to be more entrepreneurial as they will be expected to play an even more active role in this era. Hattingh (2018) supports this and suggests that entrepreneurial skills will be essential for the 4th Industrial Revolution; employees will be required to add value through innovation and actively seeking improvements in their work environments.

Participants were further probed and asked what they think organisations can do to support them in creating readiness and alignment to the 4th Industrial Revolution. A small number of participants argued that there is a need for leaders to be open and transparent about their longterm business strategies and how the 4th Industrial Revolution impacts these strategies. They felt that this would allow them to start thinking about their careers differently. Schwab (2018) has a contrasting view in this context and suggests that the digital revolution requires leaders that are 'more human', emotionally intelligent, and able to model and champion co-operative working. This is because leaders of this nature will coach rather than command; they are more likely to be driven by empathy and not their own ambitions (Hattingh, 2018). Two participants postulated that there is a need for future-orientated leaders. These participants suggested that when leaders are thinking about the future, they can start preparing people for change and empower them with the necessary resources. Artley (2018) is in agreement that leaders need to understand and consider the skills that are most favourable for their organisations' future state, and develop people accordingly.

A fair number of participants also suggested that it is imperative that when organisations are contemplating introducing new technologies, they need to have a 'people inclusive' strategy that encourages self-sufficiency. This way they can be proactive in planning for the future as some of their skills become redundant. Gwata (2019) agrees with this standpoint and suggests that in a world where employment is challenged by the digitisation of the workplace, self-sufficiency will play a critical role in enabling people to establish their careers in such a way that they are augmented and not threatened by technology. A small number of participants further stated that as organisations redesign their structures, they need to have a clear understanding of what skills are going to be required. Similarly, Schwab (2018) suggests that it is critical for organisations to take an active approach in supporting their existing workforce

in upskilling and reskilling. Therefore, organisations need to focus on investing in an agile workforce that has future skills to realise the extent to which technology can be optimized whilst mitigating the risks of high levels of redundancies (Davis, 2016).

Millennials also suggest that organisations need to create a culture of lifelong learning, particularly around niche skills, by making learning more accessible through various mediums. The 4th Industrial Revolution has made skills development seamless and accessible through mediums such as Edx, Coursea, podcasts and YouTube videos (Schwab, 2018). Although one needs to have in-depth knowledge of a specific field, Gwata (2019) argues that individuals need to have enough knowledge in fields outside their own specialisation. These skills should be complementary and enable millennials to enrich their existing skills in their fields of expertise (Gwata, 2019). Therefore, in as much as millennials need to acquire core skills and expertise, they also need to be multi-faceted in other areas to become all rounded and relevant.

Practical Implications

This research study aimed to explore millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company. The data collected in this research study can assist companies in understanding and establishing what millennials require to transition in the 4th Industrial Revolution. Thus, providing insight into what millennials think of the phenomenon and investing in interventions that can support them through the transition, particularly around transforming skills and creating readiness through various mediums.

Conclusion

The objective of this study was to establish millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company.

Based on literature, the 4th Industrial Revolution is a concept used to describe the current economic and technological era (Roblek et al., 2016). In this study, it was found that millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution as a new era that stems from the 3rd Industrial Revolution. They further associated this era with the introduction of new technologies such as artificial intelligence, automation, biotechnology and robotics. Millennials suggest that these technologies are going to be further integrated into their lives in such a way that they are going to be relieved of administrative and manually intensive

tasks. Although there is minimal impact currently, millennials anticipate that as this era progresses, it is going to introduce new tools and systems, resulting in the automation of certain job functions. Millennials argue that this is going to lead to the redundancy and transformation of current skills.

To cope with this and still remain relevant, millennials believe that they need to change their mind sets and educate themselves about the 4th Industrial Revolution and its impact on their long-term career aspirations. They also believe that they need to align to this period by acquiring skills and reskilling more frequently than before, due to the accelerated rate of change. They further suggest that they need to be more entrepreneurial and start thinking of how they can create value in society, whilst getting compensated for it.

Another aspect that was focused on in this study was the contribution that organisations can make in supporting millennials to align to the 4th Industrial Revolution. Millennials believe that organisations need to be clear and transparent about their strategic ambitions, and how the 4th Industrial Revolution will influence the various job roles in their businesses. Millennials also suggest that organisations need to drive a culture of learning, empowering employees to be self-sufficient. This way they will continue to evolve their skills and proactively manage their career progression. Marr (2019) suggests that business leaders will need to expand their thinking away from traditional concepts, to being future-orientated. Furthermore, they need to rethink their strategies and business models in such a way that they consider the impact of the 4th Industrial Revolution on various aspects of business, particularly their workforce (Marr, 2019).

References

- Allen, R. C. (2009). The British industrial revolution in global perspective. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Allen, R. C. (2015). The high wage economy and the industrial revolution: A restatement. *The Economic History Review*, 68(1), 1–22.

Artley, J. (2018). World Economic Forum. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/01/how-to-be-a-leader-in-the-fourth-industrialrevolution/

- Aslam, U., Ilyas, M., Imran, M. K., & Rahman, U. (2016). Intelligence and its impact on managerial effectiveness and career success (Evidence from insurance sector of Pakistan). *Journal of Management Development*, 35(4), 505–516. doi: 10.1108/JMD–10– 2015-0153
- Au-Yong-Oliveira, M., Gonçalves, R., Martins, J., & Branco, F. (2018). The social impact of technology on millennials and consequences for higher education and leadership.
 Telematics and Informatics, 35(4), 954–963. doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2017.10.007
- Barley, S. R., & Kunda, G. (2001). Bringing work back in. *Organization Science*, *12*(1), 76–95.
- Bartodziej, C. J. (2017). In the concept industry 4.0. Berlin, Germany: Springer Gabler.
- Batt, R., & Doellgast, V. (2005). *Groups, teams, and the division of labor*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press.
- Blinder, A. S. (2006). Offshoring: The next industrial revolution? Foreign Affairs, 113–128.
- Bonciu, F. (2017). Evaluation of the impact of the 4th industrial revolution on the labor market. *Romanian Economic and Business Review*, *12*(2), 7–16.
- Brooks, R. B. (2018). *History of Massachusetts*. Retrieved from https://historyofmassachusetts.org/industrial-revolution/
- Butler-Adam, J. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution and education. *South African Journal of Science*, *114*(5), 1–1. doi: 10.17159/sajs.2018/a0271
- Buzza, J. S. (2017). Are you living to work or working to live? What millennials want in the workplace. *Journal of Human Resources*, *5*(2), 15-20. doi: 0.15640/jhrmls.v5n2a3
- Calk, R., & Patrick, A. (2017). Millennials through the looking glass: Workplace motivating factors. *The Journal of Business Inquiry*, *16*(2), 131–139.
- Canedo, J. C., Graen, G., Grace, M., & Johnson, R. D. (2017). Navigating the new workplace: Technology, millennials, and accelerating HR innovation. *AIS Transactions* on Human-Computer Interaction, 9(3), 243–260.

- Carvalho, N., Chaim, O., Cazarini, E., & Gerolamo, M. (2018). Manufacturing in the fourth industrial revolution: A positive prospect in sustainable manufacturing. *Procedia Manufacturing*, 21, 671–678. doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2018.02.170
- Chou, S. Y. (2012). Millennials in the workplace: A conceptual analysis of millennials' leadership and followership styles. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 2(2), 71–83. doi: 10.5296/ijhrs.v2i2.1568
- Collings, D. G., & Isichei, M. (2018). The shifting boundaries of global staffing: Integrating global talent management, alternative forms of international assignments and non-employees into the discussion. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(1), 165–187. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2017.1380064
- Daemmrich, A. (2017). Invention, innovation systems, and the fourth industrial revolution. *Technology & Innovation*, *18*(4), 257–265. doi: 10.21300/18.4.2017.257
- Davis, N. (2016). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2016/01/what-is-the-fourth-industrial-revolution/
- Deloitte. (2018). *The fourth industrial revolution is here are you ready?* London, United Kingdom: Deloitte Insight.
- Dietz, F. C. (2008). The industrial revolution. Michigan, MI: University of Michigan.
- Diko, K. (2019). *South African Government*. Retrieved from https://www.gov.za/speeches/president-cyril-ramaphosa-addresses-inaugural-4thindustrial-revolution-sa-digital-economy
- Dobrota, M., Jeremic, V., & Markovic, A. (2012). A new perspective on the ICT development index. *Information Development*, 28(4), 271–280. doi: 10.1177/0266666912446497
- Dombrowski, U., & Wagner, T. (2014). Mental strain as field of action in the 4th industrial revolution. *Procedia Cirp*, *17*, 100–105. doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2014.01.077
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Finley-Moise, T. (2019). *Hewlett-Packard*. Retrieved from https://store.hp.com/app/techtakes/where-fourth-industrial-revolution-is-taking-us
- Geradine-Brown, R. N. (2017). The millennials (generation Y): Segregation, integration and racism. *ABNF Journal*, 28(1), 5–8.

- Gibson, L. A., & Sodeman, W. A. (2014). Millennials and technology: Addressing the communication gap in education and practice. *Organization Development Journal*, 32(4), 63–75.
- Glistau, E., & Coello, N. I. (2018). Industry 4.0, logistics 4.0 and materials–chances and solutions. *In Materials Science Forum*, 9(19), 307–314. doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.919.307
- Gwata, M. (2019). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/08/fourth-industrial-revolution-education/
- Hagel, J., Schwartz, J., & Bersin, J. (2017). Navigating the future of work. *Deloitte Rev, 21*, 27–45.
- Harve, A. (2019). *Training industry*. Retrieved from https://trainingindustry.com/articles/workforce-development/reskilling-the-workforcefor-the-fourth-industrial-revolution/
- Hattingh, S. (2018). Preparing the workforce for the fourth industrial revolution. *Skills at Work: Theory and Practice Journal*, *9*(1), 6–18.
- Hershatter, A., & Epstein, M. (2010). Millennials and the world of work: An organization and management perspective. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 25(2), 211–223. doi: 10.1007/s10869-010-9160-y
- Heyns, M. M., & Kerr, M. D. (2018). Generational differences in workplace motivation. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 16(1), 1–10. doi: 10.4102/sajhrm.v16i0.967
- Hirschi, A. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution: Issues and implications for career research and practice. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 66(3), 192–204. doi: 10.1002/cdq.12142
- Johnston, K. (2013). A guide to educating different generations in South Africa. *Issues in Informing Science and Information Technology*, *10*(1), 261–273. doi: 10.28945/1810
- Khan, A. (2018). Towards data science. Retrieved from https://towardsdatascience.com/artificial-intelligence-and-robotic-process-automation-284daecf3e55
- Kodama, F. (2018). Learning mode and strategic concept for the 4th industrial revolution. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 4(3), 32–38. doi: 10.3390/joitmc4030032
- Kuron, L. K., Lyons, S. T., Schweitzer, L., & Ng, E. S. (2015). Millennials' work values:
 Differences across the school to work transition. *Personnel Review*, 44(6), 991–1009.
 doi: 10.1108/PR-01-2014-0024

- Leonard, C., & Ljungberg, J. (2010). Population and living standards, 1870–1914. *The Cambridge Economic History of Modern Europe*, 2(18), 108–129.
- Liu, Y., & Grusky, D. B. (2013). The payoff to skill in the third industrial revolution. *American Journal of Sociology*, *118*(5), 1330–1374. doi: 10.1086/669498
- Lyons, S., Urick, M., Kuron, L., & Schweitzer, L. (2015). Generational differences in the workplace: There is complexity beyond the stereotypes. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 8(3), 346–356. doi: 10.1017/iop.2015.48
- Mahmood, M. F., & Hussin, N. (2018). Information in conversion era: Impact and influence from 4th industrial revolution. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business* and Social Sciences, 8(9), 11–15.
- Manda, M. I., & Ben Dhaou, S. (2019). Responding to the challenges and opportunities in the 4th industrial revolution in developing countries. *In Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Theory and Practice of Electronic Governance*, 244–253. doi: 10.1145/3326365.3326398
- Marr, B. (2019). *Bernard Marr*. Retrieved from https://www.bernardmarr.com/default.asp?contentID=966
- Martins, N., & Martins, E. C. (2014). Perceptions of age generations regarding employee satisfaction in a South African organisation. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(21), 129–140. doi: 10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n21p129
- Marwala, T. (2019). *Daily Maverick*. Retrieved from https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2019-07-05-fourth-industrial-revolution-letsall-get-to-work-in-a-synchronised-manner/
- Maumbe, B. M., & Okello, J. J. (2013). Uses of information and communication technology (ICT) in agriculture and rural development in sub-Saharan Africa: Experiences from South Africa and Kenya. *In Technology, Sustainability, and Rural Development in Africa*, 113–134. doi: 10.4018/jictrd.2010010101

Menon, J. (2019). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/09/fourth-industrial-revolution-jobs/

- Mokyr, J. (2004). Accounting for the industrial revolution. *The Cambridge economic history of modern Britain, 1*, 1700–1860. doi: 10.1257/jel.50.1.85
- Morrar, R., Arman, H., & Mousa, S. (2017). The fourth industrial revolution (Industry 4.0): A social innovation perspective. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, 7(11), 12–20.

- Nalubega, T., & Uwizeyimana, D. E. (2019). Public sector monitoring and evaluation in the fourth industrial revolution: Implications for Africa. *Africa's Public Service Delivery & Performance Review*, 7(1), 1–12. doi: 10.4102/apsdpr.v7i1.318
- Nolan, L. S. (2015). The roar of millennials: Retaining top talent in the workplace. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability & Ethics, 12*(5), 69–75.
- Paprocki, W. (2019). Aquarium: Augmented knowledge and wisdom in the age of the fourth industrial revolution. *Journal of Management and Financial Sciences*, *36*, 9–29.
- Penprase, B. E. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution and higher education. *Higher Education in the Era of the Fourth Industrial Revolution*, 207–229.
- Petrillo, A., Felice, F. D., Cioffi, R., & Zomparelli, F. (2018). Fourth industrial revolution: Current practices, challenges, and opportunities. *Digital Transformation in Smart Manufacturing*, 1–20. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.72304
- Pretorius, H. W., Mawela, T., Strydom, I., Villiers, C. D., & Johnson, R. D. (2015). Continuing the discourse of women in information technology: A South African perspective. *Gender, Technology and Development, 19*(3), 346–369.
- Prisecaru, P. (2016). Challenges of the fourth industrial revolution. *Knowledge Horizons*. *Economics*, 8(1), 57–74.
- Rifkin, J. (2012). The third industrial revolution: How the internet, green electricity, and 3–d printing are ushering in a sustainable era of distributed capitalism. *World Financial Review*, *1*(1), 4052–4057.
- Robinson, K. (2017). *Fin24*. Retrieved from https://www.fin24.com/Finweek/Featured/themillennial-investors-mindset-20171018
- Roblek, V., Meško, M., & Krapež, A. (2016). A complex view of industry 4.0. *Sage Open*, 6(2), 1–11.
- Rodney, G., & Wakeham, M. (2016). Social media marketing communications effect on attitudes among millennials in South Africa. *The African Journal of Information Systems*, 8(3), 20–44.
- Rosenberg, N. (1998). The role of electricity in industrial development. *The Energy Journal*, 7–24. doi: 10.5547/ISSN0195–6574–EJ–Vol19–No2–2
- Schwab, K. (2018). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/about/the_fourth_industrial_revolution_by_klaus_schwab
- Selamat, A., Alias, R. A., Hikmi, S. N., Puteh, M., & Tapsi, S. M. (2017). Higher education
 4.0: Current status and readiness in meeting the fourth industrial revolution challenges. *Redesigning Higher Education towards Industry*, 4, 19–24.

- Sentryo. (2017). Sentryo. Retrieved from https://www.sentryo.net/the-4-industrialrevolutions/
- Senvar, O., & Akkartal, E. (2018). An overview to industry 4.0. International Journal of Information, Business and Management, 10(4), 50–57.
- Singh, S., Sarkar, K., & Bahl, N. (2018). Fourth industrial revolution, Indian labour market and continuing engineering education. *International Journal of Research in Engineering*, *IT and Social Sciences*, 8(3), 6–12.
- Ślusarczyk, B. (2018). Industry 4.0: Are we ready? *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 17, 232–248. doi: 10.17512/pjms.2018.17.1.19
- Smith, J. W., & Clark, G. (2010). New games, different rules millennials are in town. *Journal* of Diversity Management (JDM), 5(3), 1–12.
- Troxler, P. (2013). Making the 3rd industrial revolution. *Machines, makers and inventors*, 6–15.
- Van Dam, N. H. (2017). *The 4th industrial revolution and the future of jobs*. London, United Kingdom: Bookboon.
- Von Reiche, V. (2019). *Citadel*. Retrieved from https://www.citadel.co.za/insights/articles/the_fourth_industrial_revolution/
- Voth, H. J. (2003). Living standards during the industrial revolution: An economist's guide. *American Economic Review*, *93*(2), 221–226. doi: 10.1257/000282803321947083
- World Economic Forum. (2016). The future of jobs: Employment, skills and workforce strategy for the fourth industrial revolution. Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum.
- Weinberger, M. (2018). Ernest & Young. Retrieved from https://www.ey.com/en_gl/digital/four-things-to-know-about-the-fourth-industrialrevolution
- Xu, M., David, J. M., & Kim, S. H. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution: Opportunities and challenges. *International Journal of Financial Research*, 9(2), 90–95. doi: 10.5430/ijfr.v9n2p90
- Yao, X., & Lin, Y. (2016). Emerging manufacturing paradigm shifts for the incoming industrial revolution. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 85(8), 1665–1676. doi: 10.1007/s00170–015–8076–0

CHAPTER 3

CONCLUSIONS, LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The purpose of this chapter is to draw conclusions from literature and to present the empirical results based on the research objectives. Furthermore, attention is drawn to the limitations related to the study and the recommendations made by the researcher for individuals, organisations and future research.

3.1. CONCLUSIONS FROM LITERATURE AND EMPIRICAL RESULTS

The aim of this study was to explore millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company. The world is at the cusp of the 4th Industrial Revolution, and what makes this era unique is that it is challenging the ideology of what it means to be human (Marr, 2018). Although extensive research has been conducted around this phenomenon, a large amount of it has focused on defining what this era is, addressing the technologies that it has introduced, as well as its impact on economies, organisations, and changes in the labour market. However, minimal focus has been given to individuals' perceptions in relation to their beliefs, and the way in which they think this era impacts them.

A qualitative approach was employed to establish millennial perceptions of the 4th Industrial Revolution in an information technology company. Fifteen participants were identified using purposive sampling, and data was gathered following a semi-structured interview approach. Once data had been collected, themes were then identified, based on the specific objectives of the study. Subthemes were then associated with the respective themes; and redundant codes were deleted from the findings. Following this, codes were grouped into categories and themes addressing the specific research questions.

The *first objective* of this study was to establish the way in which millennials describe the 4th Industrial Revolution. Rouse (2017) agrees that although the 4th Industrial Revolution is developed on the foundation of the 3rd Industrial Revolution, it is a new era rather than an extension of the preceding Industrial Revolution. This is because the technologies introduced in this period are disruptive in nature and fundamentally changing human existence as it is currently known (Hirschi, 2018). It was further found that a significant number of millennials

described this era in relation to technologies such as biotechnology, robotics and automation. The 4th Industrial Revolution has brought about the development of various technologies, with artificial intelligence, robotics, cognitive computing, biotechnology and automation being a few of them (Leitao, et al., 2016). This study indicated that millennials feel that it is these technologies that have enabled them to be more efficient. Further, it was found that millennials think that these technologies will be integrated into their lives in such a way that operational and mundane activities are going to be reduced. Coldwell (2019) agrees that these technologies are becoming further embedded into society and transforming organisational systems, management principles, as well as employee qualitative and quantitative workloads. As technology takes care of monotonous tasks that they would typically engage in, employees are now allowed to create value in other ways (Morrar, Arman, & Mousa, 2017).

The findings of this study also indicated that millennials associate this era with a change in jobs and skills. They further indicated that as this era progresses, it is going to present new career opportunities that require a new set of skills. However, for one participant, the 4th Industrial Revolution is indicative of the job redundancies to come. With previous Industrial Revolution, it could be asserted that technology would create more jobs than it would displace (Skilton & Hovsepian, 2018). However, what makes the 4th Industrial Revolution complex is the extent to which machines can perform various functions autonomously, as well as learn from the data it works with - better than humans would (Ślusarczyk, 2018). Therefore, the likelihood of certain jobs being replaced by machines becomes a possibility, making way for new concepts of work (Pîrvu & Zamfirescu, 2017).

The *second objective* of this study was to establish the impact that the 4th Industrial Revolution has had on millennials. It was found that a significant number of participants in this study associated the impact of this era with a significant reduction in operational and administrative duties as a result of automated systems and processes. The automation of operational functions of work has eradicated tedious aspects of work across many business functions, allowing humans to focus on meaningful tasks that create value (Sohimi et al., 2019). Millennials also indicated that this era has given them access to various platforms where knowledge and skills can be acquired. The 4th Industrial Revolution has created an exponential scale of interconnections and exabytes of information (Skilton & Hovsepian, 2018); therefore, creating a new level of on-demand computing power that enables

individuals to acquire knowledge at any point and on any given device (Skilton & Hovsepian, 2018).

Although the 4th Industrial Revolution is bringing about significant productivity gains for society, it is also displacing many jobs as it progresses (Chan, 2019). In this study it was confirmed that two participants were impacted by job redundancies. This is because technologies driven by this era have taken over certain functions; new human capabilities and competencies, which provide a comparative advantage, are being developed (Acemoglu & Restrepo, 2019). Accordingly, these participants had the opportunity to transition into roles that are digital in nature and aligned to the requirements of this era. For a few participants, it was found that the 4th Industrial Revolution has had very little impact on their roles; they suggest that this is because their roles require extensive human interaction. This confirmed Dixon and Jordan's (2018) argument that human-focused competencies such as creativity, problem solving, people management and critical thinking are going to be critical in a world where machines can perform operational functions.

The *third objective* entailed establishing the types of opportunities that millennials have been presented with as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution. It was found that millennials can now use intelligent tools and systems that enable them to create efficiencies. Thus, allowing them to focus on more complex business issues that computers cannot perform (Daemmrich, 2017). It was also identified that the 4th Industrial Revolution has introduced tech-enhanced platforms that create ease and access to information (Penprase, 2018). As such, millennials felt that they can now acquire skills and consume knowledge through various platforms.

Considering the number of billions of devices that are interconnected, this era has given rise to unprecedented processing power, storage capabilities, as well as greater access to knowledge (Botha, 2019). Therefore, providing millennials with the opportunity to acquire the skills that they need (Hirschi, 2018). As organisations redesign and introduce new concepts of work, it was also found that a significant number of the millennials interviewed feel that they will be presented with more career opportunities and various ways of offering their skills as a service, as opposed to the traditional concepts of a '9 to 5' job. Marr (2018) concurs with this view and anticipates that the 4th Industrial Revolution will introduce new skills; therefore, the long-established concept of clocking in to work at nine and leaving work at five will cease to exist as it gets replaced by agile work environments (Marr, 2018).

The *fourth objective* of the study was to understand the kind of challenges that millennials experience as a result of the 4th Industrial Revolution. Although it was found that most millennials have experienced minimal impact where job redundancies are concerned, they anticipate that their jobs will be impacted as organisations progress to adopt digital tools and systems. They argued that this is going to make certain jobs redundant, while some jobs and skills evolve, as suggested by Butler-Adam (2018). However, there is no clear consensus as some researchers anticipate an increase in opportunities, while some expect to see more jobs become redundant (Hirschi, 2018).

Although millennials now have access to more information and knowledge, this study found that millennials regard this as a challenge to some extent. Millennials feel that it has become challenging to navigate and sift through large amounts of information, and to establish what is relevant. It becomes difficult to establish what knowledge and skills one should be focusing on due to the levels of data made available to them. Although a key milestone of this era is the democratisation of information and knowledge, this study identified that it can be challenging to navigate through the amounts of information (Davis & O'Halloran, 2018). Therefore, to acquire the right knowledge, millennials need to establish key areas that will be relevant to them, prior to embarking on specific learning paths (Moloko, 2019).

One participant indicated that another challenge is the inequality that this era has created. They argued that the skilled workforce now has better access to increased opportunities than those that are underprivileged, as entry level work becomes further redundant. Von Reiche (2019) agreed that technology has disrupted the labour market and that the beneficiaries of these developments will be those that are going to provide the relevant intellectual and physical capital. Lastly, it was found that a small number of participants felt that this era has not created any challenges for them; instead they see it as an opportunity to acquire new skills and optimise the opportunities made available to them.

The *final objective* was to establish what millennials think is required to align themselves to the 4th Industrial Revolution. Millennials suggested they need to change their mind sets and educate themselves about the 4th Industrial Revolution and its impact on their long-term career aspirations. Cooper (2019) agrees that while a change in skillset is imperative in this era, a growth mind set is just as important in driving agility as individuals reskill and upskill. It was also found that millennials need clarity in terms of the phenomenon and its impact on them. Thus, they feel that it is crucial for them to get a clear understanding of the 4th

Industrial Revolution and its impact on the concept of work (Schwab, 2018). This way they can align to this period and acquire the appropriate skills. Millennials also indicated that, as the concept of work evolves, they will need to be more entrepreneurial. Gwata (2019) agrees that entrepreneurial skills will provide individuals with the competency to identify opportunities that create value, establishing careers that are augmented and not threatened by technology.

Another aspect that was focused on in this regard was the contribution that organisations can make in supporting millennials to align to the 4th Industrial Revolution. It was found that millennials believe that organisations need to be clear and transparent about their strategic ambitions, and how the 4th Industrial Revolution will influence their business objectives and various job roles. Millennials also suggested that organisations need to drive a culture of learning and empower employees to be self-sufficient. This way they will continue to evolve their skills and proactively manage their career progression; therefore, ensuring that they have the necessary skills to support the new technologies employed (Ryder, 2018). Marr (2019) suggests that business leaders need to expand their thinking away from traditional concepts and gear their human capital towards digitisation. Lastly, millennials suggested that leaders need to rethink their strategies and business models in such a way that they proactively consider the impact of the 4th Industrial Revolution on various aspects of business, particularly their workforce (Marr, 2019). This way they can engage in meaningful conversations with employees as they create readiness for the future.

3.2. LIMITATIONS OF THIS STUDY

Limitations were taken into consideration in this study. Creswell and Creswell (2018) argue that qualitative research is generally subjective in nature. Whilst the researcher endeavoured to be objective and minimise bias from the study, participants' responses to the questions were subject to the researcher's interpretation. The research study is based on a pool of participants that work in the same organisation, limiting the findings to one environment. With this consideration in mind, the transferability of the findings may be limited to a similar context. Furthermore, the researcher is employed in the same organisation at which the research had been conducted. Although he clarified his role as a researcher, being a colleague to the participants may have possibly impacted some of the responses. Due to the focus of this study being on millennials that work in an information technology, they may be more informed and exposed to the phenomenon than millennials working in other industries. Lastly, the themes established were based on the specific objectives of the study, limiting the ability to explore other themes that could have potentially emerged.

3.3. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

Recommendations based on the findings of this study will be presented in this section. First, recommendations for the individual, followed by the organisation, and lastly future research.

3.3.1. Recommendations for the Individual

Machine capability has fundamentally changed work as it is known and, ultimately, the skills that are required (Taylor, 2016). Research indicates that this has already started making certain jobs redundant and, long term, it is theorised that more jobs will be lost as a result of technology (Butler-Adam, 2018). However, new skills and jobs will emerge and introduce new types of capabilities where humans are concerned (Schwab, 2018). Based on the findings of this study, it is suggested that millennials need to educate themselves further on the 4th Industrial Revolution. They need to establish how it impacts their careers, as well as their skills respectively. This way they can make informed career choices that will enable them to remain relevant in this progressive era.

3.3.2. Recommendations for the Organisation

Organisations are reorganising and repositioning themselves in the effort of optimising on economies of scale that the 4th Industrial Revolution has presented (Holmlund, Strandvik, & Lähteenmäki, 2017). As organisations endeavour to introduce digitised technologies, people will be an important component of the transition (Schwab, 2018). As such, this study suggests that as leaders consider the 4th Industrial Revolution in their strategies, they need to position the skills that they require and develop their workforce accordingly, as opposed to seeking talent externally in a market where digital skills are potentially scarce (Canedo et al., 2017). Organisations need to also create awareness around this phenomenon and support their workforce in understanding the value that it brings, and the way in which they can align to it to remain relevant. Therefore, they need to engage with employees around the future skills required and how they will support the organisation in a digital age.

3.3.3. Recommendations for Future Research

The 4th Industrial Revolution is one of the most discussed topics as it impacts every aspect of society (Daemmrich, 2017). However, a large amount of the research has focused on the impact of this era at a macro level from an economic, policy and labour perspective. Instead, very little research exists that addresses the perceptions towards the phenomenon. It is anticipated that the results of this study will contribute to this aspect of research and it is recommended that similar research be conducted in various contexts and industries. Further, it is suggested that research focusing on other generational cohorts be conducted to establish similarities and differences between the various generations. This will provide insight and further literature into how various generations, working in different industries, perceive and are impacted by this era.

References

- Acemoglu, D., & Restrepo, P. (2019). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/04/the-revolution-need-not-be-automated/
- Botha, D. (2019). *Sebata*. Retrieved from https://www.sebata.co.za/fourth-industrialrevolution-knowledge-management-early-stage-conceptualisation/
- Butler-Adam, J. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution and education. *South African Journal of Science*, *114*(5), 1–8. doi: doi: 10.17159/sajs.2018/a0271
- Buzza, J. S. (2017). Are you living to work or working to live? What Millennials want in the workplace. *Journal of Human Resources*, *5*(2), 15–20. doi: 10.15640/jhrmls.v5n2a3
- Canedo, J. C., Graen, G., Grace, M., & Johnson, R. D. (2017). Navigating the new workplace: Technology, millennials, and accelerating HR innovation. *AIS Transactions* on Human-Computer Interaction, 9(3), 243–260.
- Chan, K. (2019). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/07/job-losses-ai-automation/
- Coldwell, D. (2019). Negative influences of the 4th industrial revolution on the workplace: Towards a theoretical model of entropic citizen behavior in toxic organizations. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(15), 1–13. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16152670
- Cooper, C. (2019). *Infoormation Systems*. Retrieved from https://www.infosys.com/insights/human-potential/Pages/fourth-industrialrevolution.aspx
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approached* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks: CA: SAGE.
- Daemmrich, A. (2017). Invention, innovation systems, and the fourth industrial revolution. *Technology & Innovation*, *18*(4), 257–265. doi: 10.21300/18.4.2017.257
- Davis, N., & O'Halloran, D. (2018). World Economic Forum. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/11/the-fourth-industrial-revolution-is-drivinga-new-phase-of-globalization/
- Dixon, W., & Jordan, A. (2018). World Economic Forum. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/12/why-the-fourth-industrial-revolution-needsmore-arts-graduates/
- Glistau, E., & Coello, N. I. (2018). Industry 4.0, logistics 4.0 and materials–chances and solutions. *Materials Science Forum*, 9(19), 307–314. doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.919.307

Gwata, M. (2019). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/08/fourth-industrial-revolution-education/

- Hirschi, A. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution: Issues and implications for career research and practice. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 66(3), 192–204. doi: 10.1002/cdq.12142
- Holmlund, M., Strandvik, T., & Lähteenmäki, I. (2017). Digitalization challenging institutional logics: Top executive sensemaking of service business change. *Journal of Service Theory and Practice*, 27(1), 219–236. doi: 10.1108/JSTP-12-2015-0256
- Leitao, P., Karnouskos, S., Ribeiro, L., Lee, J., Strasser, T., & Colombo, A. (2016). Smart agents in industrial cyber-physical systems. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 104(5), 1086– 1101. doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2016.2521931
- Marr, B. (2018). *Forbes*. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/bernardmarr/2018/08/13/the-4th-industrial-revolution-ishere-are-you-ready/#56d85a0a628b
- Moloko, N. (2019). *Kaitomac creatives*. Retrieved from https://www.kaitomacreatives.co.za/thinking/the-impact-of-the-4th-industrial-revolution/
- Morrar, R., Arman, H., & Mousa, S. (2017). The fourth industrial revolution (Industry 4.0): A social innovation perspective. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, 7(11), 12–20.
- Penprase, B. E. (2018). The fourth industrial revolution and higher education. London, United Kingdom: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pîrvu, B. C., & Zamfirescu, C. B. (2017). Smart factory in the context of 4th industrial revolution: Challenges and opportunities for Romania. *Materials Science and Engineering*, 227(1), 1–10. doi:10.1088/1757–899X/227/1/012094
- Roblek, V., Meško, M., & Krapež, A. (2016). A complex view of industry 4.0. *Sage Open*, 6(2), 1–11.
- Rouse, M. (2017). *Tech Target*. Retrieved from https://whatis.techtarget.com/definition/fourth-industrial-revolution
- Ryder, G. (2018). *World Economic Forum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/10/tech-disrupt-jobs-fourth-industrialrevolution-ilo/
- Schwab, K. (2018). *Weforum*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/about/the-fourthindustrial-revolution-by-klaus-schwab

- Skilton, M., & Hovsepian, F. (2018). *The 4th industrial revolution: Responding to the impact of artificial intelligence on business*. Meriden, United Kingdom: Springer.
- Ślusarczyk, B. (2018). Industry 4.0: Are we ready? *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, *17*(1), 232–248. doi: 10.17512/pjms.2018.17.1.19
- Sohimi, N. E., Affandi, H. M., Rasul, M. S., Yasin, R. M., Nordin, N., & Adam, S. (2019). Malaysian industrial collaborations for skills development in 4th industrial revolution. *Journal of Technical Education and Training*, 11(3), 42–57.
- Taylor, A. M. (2016). The future of the professions: How technology will transform the work of human experts. *Social Work Education: The International Journal*. doi:10.1080/02615479.2016.1165474.

Von Reiche, V. (2019). *Citadel*. Retrieved from https://www.citadel.co.za/insights/articles/the-fourth-industrial-revolution/